Our Homes, Our Communities

PolicyLink

How Housing Acquisition Strategies Can Create Affordable Housing, Stabilize Neighborhoods, and Prevent Displacement



Our Homes, Our Communities

How Housing Acquisition Strategies Can Create Affordable Housing, Stabilize Neighborhoods, and Prevent Displacement

James A. Crowder Jr. Chris Schildt Rick Jacobus

©2021 PolicyLink. All rights reserved.

PolicyLink is a national research and action institute advancing racial and economic equity by Lifting Up What Works[®]. http://www.policylink.org

Acknowledgments

This work is made possible through the generous support of the Funders for Housing and Opportunity, The Kresge Foundation, and The California Endowment.

We gratefully acknowledge the following people who gave their time to participate in discussions and/or to review a draft of this brief and provide invaluable feedback:

Apryl Lewis, Action North Carolina Charles Rutheiser, Annie E. Casey Foundation Veronica Beaty, California Coalition for Rural Housing Alma Blackwell, Causa Justa :: Just Cause Leticia Arce, Causa Justa :: Just Cause Derrick Robinson, Center on Policy Initiatives Keara Piña, Center on Policy Initiatives Amee Chew, Center for Popular Democracy Katie Goldstein, Center for Popular Democracy Noor Shams, Chhaya CDC Kim Piechota, Chinatown Community Development Center Whitney Jones, Chinatown Community Development Center Lydia Lowe, Chinatown Community Land Trust Darin Ranelletti, City of Oakland Fernando Martí, Council of Community Housing Organizations Peter Cohen, Council of Community Housing Organizations Tenesa Sanders, Detroit Action Nzingha Masani-Manuel, Detroit People's Platform Devin Culbertson, Enterprise Community Partners James Yelen, Enterprise Community Partners Justine Marcus, Enterprise Community Partners Victoria Rowe-Barreca, Enterprise Community Partners **Amy Kenyon,** Ford Foundation Jennifer Angarita, Funders for Housing and Opportunity Kate Little, Georgia STAND-UP Andy Beck, Homes for All Indy Wildstyle Paschall, Homes for All Indy Andrew Fahlstrom, Inquilinxs Unidxs por Justicia Drew Curtis, Ironbound Community Corporation Chris Kabel, The Kresge Foundation Thomas Silverstein, Lawyers' Committee for Civil Rights Under Law

```
Jeremie Greer, Liberation in a Generation
```

Adam Kent, Local Initiatives Support Corporation An Le, Little Tokyo Service Center Erich Nakano, Little Tokyo Service Center LaLo Montoya, Make the Road Nevada Mariia Zimmerman, MZ Strategies/SPARCC Anjan Chaudhry, National CAPACD Seema Agnani, National CAPACD Peter Sabonis, Partners for Dignity & Rights Philip Tegeler, Poverty & Race Research Action Council Eliana Horn, Puget Sound Sage Kamaal Martin, San Diego Project New Village Sandra McNeill, Sandra McNeill Consulting and T.R.U.S.T. South LA Luis Sarmiento, THRIVE Santa Ana Community Land Trust Leslie Gordon, Urban Habitat Connie Wright, Wells Fargo Foundation

In particular, we are grateful to James Yelen for the insightful report *Preserving Affordability, Preventing Displacement*. Thank you to Mercedes Márquez for guidance on the development of this report and to Christopher Thornberg, Norma Paz García, John Laswick, Josh Ishimatsu, Nora Lichtash, Ethan Handelman, David DeVaughn, Phillip Kash, Emily Alvarado, and Andrea Brennan for early conversations that helped to shape the report. Also thank you to Steve King with the Oakland Community Land Trust, Peter Cohen with the Council of Community Housing Organizations, and Sandra McNeill with T.R.U.S.T. South LA for review and feedback on the case studies.

A special thank you to Chione Lucina Muñoz Flegal and Kalima Rose for their indispensable input and guidance throughout this project. Thank you to Josh Kirschenbaum and Sarah Treuhaft from PolicyLink for review and thoughtful comments. Thank you to Varun Noronha and Nicole Brown of Street Level Advisors for research and scheduling assistance. Any omissions or errors are the authors' own.

Contents

1.0	Executive Summary	page 5
2.0	Overview	page 8
	Why We Need Equitable Acquisition Strategies Now More Than Ever	page 10
	Acquisition Strategies Confront Displacement, Overcome Disinvestments, and Grow Secure Communities	page 10
3.0	What Is an Equitable Acquisition Strategy?	page 13
	Principles for Equitable Acquisition	page 14
	Case Study: San Francisco's Comprehensive Approach	page 15
	Key Elements of Any Acquisition Strategy	page 17
	Challenges Facing Equitable Acquisition Strategies	page 17
	Acquisition, Preservation, and Racial Equity	page 20
	Lessons from the Single-Family Foreclosure Crisis	page 20
4.0	Making Acquisitions Work: Capacity, Policy, and Finance Tools	page 22
	Building Local Capacity	page 23
	Case Study: Oakland Community Land Trust	page 24
	Policy Tools	page 33
	Finance Tools	page 36
5.0	Conclusion: The Future of Equitable Housing	page 40
6.0	Appendix: Additional Resources	page 42
	Understanding the Role of Corporate Landlords and Institutional Investors in Destabilizing Communities	page 42
	Housing Market Data and Research	page 42
	Local and National Acquisition Strategies	page 43
7.0	Notes	page 44
8.0	Author Biographies	page 47

1.0 Executive Summary

The current Covid-19 pandemic has exposed a housing system that has failed low-income people and people of color for generations. Covid-19 response and recovery efforts should be directed to not only address immediate needs, but also fix structural inequities to create a more equitable housing system for all. Community ownership of buildings is one such solution. In communities facing intense gentrification and displacement pressure, direct acquisition of lower rent buildings by community-based organizations or groups of tenants can provide immediate protection to vulnerable tenants and preserve income diversity in the neighborhood. In neighborhoods that are facing sustained disinvestment, preserving existing affordable housing by taking housing off the private market and maintaining it permanently as affordable housing can provide a means of improving physical, economic, and health conditions.

Equitable Acquisition Strategies

Equitable acquisition strategies help cities achieve three important goals:

- **Confront displacement:** If local rental property owners are unable to pay their mortgages, there is a risk that these properties will be acquired by banks and sold to Wall Street investors, rather than to people who are invested in the communities where properties are located. In the face of intense gentrification pressure, targeted acquisition strategies can be a key to maintaining racial diversity and achieving racial equity.
- Overcome disinvestment: The threat of eviction allows owners to avoid making even minimal investment in quality and safety. Community ownership can stabilize these buildings, enabling investment in quality maintenance and management without threatening the stability of existing tenants.

• Create more secure communities: Gentrification and disinvestment are both symptoms of the same system of speculative ownership. Community ownership provides an antidote to both problems: more predictable housing costs over time potentially create an opportunity to save money, invest in education, or otherwise make choices that contribute to better economic outcomes over the long run.

The coronavirus crisis has created a new urgency for cities to protect their housing stock through equitable acquisition strategies. Millions of tenants struggle to pay rent due to loss of income from the pandemic. Small-property owners who control much of America's lower cost market-rate housing may not be able to weather extended periods of reduced rental income. At the same time, a number of Wall Street firms have already created special acquisition funds to take advantage of financial trouble in this housing stock.

In response to the crisis of widening inequality and rapidly increasing real estate speculation in core urban communities over the past several years, there has been a rise in locally driven community acquisition efforts to lock in affordability and stabilize neighborhoods. Reaching the scale that is needed will require significant investment at the federal level, while successfully targeting these federal resources to meet local needs will depend on local capacity and readiness.

This paper outlines the opportunity and potential strategies for expanding the supply of permanently affordable housing through property acquisitions during the Covid-19 recovery. It describes the reasons why acquisition has always been an important goal of local housing policy and how Covid-19 has made it an even more urgent need. It catalogs promising local strategies that have been piloted by cities and counties across the country, paying particular attention to the successful strategies to center racial equity. Finally, it describes the local capacities and leadership needed both inside government and in community-based organizations to successfully implement an effective acquisition strategy and highlights tools communities can use to expand their capacity to meet this challenge.

Principles for Equitable Acquisition

Not every purchase of a building is an equitable acquisition. To ensure the strategy benefits low-income communities and communities of color, it must accomplish the following goals.

- **Carefully target resources.** Have a clear definition of the community that the strategy is intended to support and protect.
- Ensure community leadership. Include community representatives and leaders in key decisions at every stage of the process from policy design to acquisition to long-term management.
- **Prioritize community ownership.** Incorporate resident ownership strategies including limited equity cooperatives, community land trusts, or ownership by community-based nonprofit organizations.
- **Preserve long-term affordability.** Provide a mechanism for ensuring that the acquired housing remains affordable to and occupied by the targeted community for the very long term.

Key Elements of an Acquisition Strategy

Targeted acquisition strategies take vitally important, less expensive housing units out of the speculative real estate market and put them into the hands of the tenants or community-based organizations. Successful strategies require the development of three types of tools: tools to build capacity, policy tools, and funding tools.

Build Local Capacity

While every acquisition strategy requires local capacity, not all places explicitly acknowledge that requirement and make plans to build the necessary capacity. Capacity building takes time: an effective effort might have short-term goals (two to five years) as well as long-term goals (20+ years).

• **Community leadership and engagement:** Once programs are underway and buildings are being acquired, every initiative needs a mechanism for ensuring that community members can set the program's direction.

- **Tenant organizing:** Organized tenants who support and help push for purchases are a key to successful community ownership, but coordinating tenant involvement requires dedicated staffing capacity and specialized skills. Programs that foster direct tenant ownership through limited equity cooperatives or other mechanisms need to build capacity for ongoing training and leadership development for resident owners.
- Scaling up pilot programs: Too often, cities will make very small investments that they refer to as "pilots" even though the city has no realistic path to greater scale. A true pilot program has both a stated time frame and explicit evaluation criteria.
- **Start-up and operating support grants:** The best way to ensure that a program has access to enough experienced staff from the start is through multiyear start-up and operating grants.
- **Training and technical assistance:** Sometimes this assistance takes the form of workshops and webinars, but a more effective strategy is to provide ongoing access to mentoring from experienced community developers.
- **Public agency capacity:** Providing funding for acquisitions can be similar to funding new housing development, but it often requires public agencies to move more quickly and be more flexible.

Policy Tools

The public sector can tilt the playing field away from speculative investors and in favor of community-supportive investment through equitable policies.

- **Proactively supporting tenant and community ownership:** Policies such as tenant or community opportunity to purchase give tenants or community groups the first opportunity to purchase residential rental properties before they can be sold on the open market.
- Stopping speculators from buying up the neighborhood: Anti-flipping taxes, vacancy taxes, and land-value taxes are examples of policies that local governments can use to level the playing field for tenants and nonprofits to purchase homes by reducing the potential profits of outside speculators.

• **Regulating the market:** Local governments can set clear rules for landlords and track the supply of rental units to manage the rental market for the benefit of tenants through policies such as landlord licensing, rental registries, short-term rental ordinances, and equitable code enforcement.

Finance Tools

There is a key role that only the federal government can play in financing affordable housing at scale. But, at a smaller scale, proactive local agencies can develop financing tools that clearly demonstrate what is possible and help to build local capacity and momentum.

- Local housing subsidy funds: Local government acquisition funds offer loans to community-based organizations to finance the purchase of existing housing units.
- Affordable housing bonds: Government agencies can issue revenue bonds to finance acquisition of affordable units. The bonds are an enforceable promise that a city will use some of its future tax revenue to repay money that is borrowed today.
- Local acquisition loan funds: Loan funds specifically designed to offer quick financing enable the purchase of existing occupied housing.
- Philanthropic partnerships for property acquisition: Communities can partner with philanthropic organizations to acquire property, establish acquisition funds, or provide loan guarantees.
- Tax abatement/exemption programs: Local government can offer reductions in property taxes to affordable housing developers or market-rate rental property owners who agree to set aside affordable units.

The Future of Equitable Housing

As the Covid-19 pandemic extends into a second year, it has become clear that some communities are impacted disproportionately. Eviction moratoria have provided momentary protections against people losing their homes, but these measures are temporary. Resolving this crisis will require unprecedented leadership and bold action at the federal, state, and local levels. Community acquisition and ownership of rental buildings is a vital strategy that stabilizes neighborhoods against outside speculation and ensures an equitable recovery with stable, healthy, affordable housing for all.

2.0 Overview

Below: Renovated multifamily housing in San Antonio, Texas. (1221 Broadway (San Antonio) by Jonathan Brown is licensed under <u>CC BY 2.0</u>)



The Covid-19 pandemic exposed a housing system that has failed low-income people and people of color for generations. Local, state, and federal Covid-19 response and recovery efforts should be directed to not only address immediate needs, but also fix structural inequities and create a more equitable housing system for all.

Most of America's less expensive rental housing is in privately owned apartment buildings.¹ This private "affordable housing" stock has been under threat or disappearing in many parts of the country. In high-cost cities, inexpensive rentals are being converted into more expensive housing, often resulting in eviction and displacement that disproportionately impacts low-income people of color. In other communities, speculative investors are failing to maintain these properties, leading to hazards that threaten the well-being of tenants and the health of neighborhoods. The small "mom-and-pop" landlords who have long been the primary providers of inexpensive rental housing are gradually being replaced by outside investors or Wall Street investment firms, which has a destabilizing effect on neighborhoods.² And, in many cases, small landlords of color are being replaced by investment firms primarily benefiting White investors. A recent Federal Reserve of Atlanta analysis found that corporate landlords were 8 percent more likely to initiate eviction proceedings against their tenants than small landlords.³ Similarly, an article in *The Atlantic* documented the ways that some corporate landlords have imposed excessive fees and penalties on lower income renters.4

Community acquisition and ownership of these buildings provides an alternative that can help stabilize neighborhoods. In communities facing intense gentrification and displacement pressure, direct acquisition of lower rent buildings can provide immediate protection to vulnerable tenants and preserve income diversity in the broader neighborhood. In neighborhoods that are facing sustained disinvestment, preservation can provide a means of improving physical, economic, and health conditions and support long-term neighborhood stability by removing homes from the speculative market. Before the pandemic, a growing tenant rights movement was driving a wider recognition of the need for more community ownership of these assets. As we document below, the past five years have seen a steady increase in the level of local government innovation in service of this goal. But the coronavirus crisis that began in early 2020 has created a new urgency. Tenants across the country have experienced significant reductions in, and in many cases the complete loss of their income, as a result of the public health crisis. City, state, and federal policymakers moved quickly to enact varying degrees of protections designed to prevent evictions of tenants during the crisis. But where tenants have been unable to make the rent, property owners are struggling to pay their mortgages. The smaller property owners who control most of America's lower cost market-rate housing may not be able to weather extended periods of reduced rental income. Local policymakers rightly have been focusing first on the need to support tenants through this crisis, but in city halls across the country worry is growing about what will happen with these buildings once the eviction moratoria are lifted.

In response to the crisis of widening inequality and rapidly increasing real estate speculation in core urban communities over the past several years, there has been a rise in locally driven community acquisition strategies, such as San Francisco's Community Opportunity to Purchase and Minneapolis's Naturally Occurring Affordable Housing Acquisition Fund. Reaching the scale that is needed to address the housing crisis will require significant investment at the federal level. A significant federal investment is not guaranteed, but it may be included in future economic recovery or infrastructure bills. However, the experience of prior federal neighborhood stabilization efforts strongly suggests that success in targeting these federal resources to really meet local needs will depend on local capacity and readiness.⁵ So, right now is the perfect time for cities, counties, and states to expand their investment in local capacity to think strategically about acquisitions and act quickly to buy properties in targeted neighborhoods as resources become available.

Why We Need Equitable Acquisition Strategies Now More Than Ever

Nearly every city in America has centrally located lower income neighborhoods that have been slowly gentrifying over the past few decades. While the pressure is often intense, the change takes decades in most places. One thing that slows down this process is the cost and challenge of "flipping" existing apartment buildings. In thousands of neighborhoods across the country, new apartment buildings come on the market with rents well above the city average while, right next door, older buildings are still renting for far less than average. Sometimes these older buildings are renovated with new art, a fancy roof deck, or a new hip name, and they reopen with much higher rents. Every tenant in the area lives with the fear that their building will be next. But this process is slow, in part because it is very expensive and very time consuming. Tenant protection laws, like rent control and just cause eviction protections, make it difficult and risky for owners to remove existing tenants. And even where the law does not provide these basic protections, removing established tenants from a building to market it to a new group is very expensive. The landlord needs the whole building empty at the same time, then they need to invest a lot in renovations and hope that the rent that they receive once they are done is not just higher, but so much higher that it makes up for the cost of renovation and all of the rent that they lost during the time they were emptying out the building. When rents rise enough in an area, this payoff for landlords becomes irresistible and evictions of lower income tenants (legal and illegal) are the result. But even in areas that are seeing active displacement, this risk and expense of flipping is a key factor protecting tenants and providing some stability to the community. Wherever low-rent units are still operating in gentrifying neighborhoods, there are property owners who have decided that flipping their buildings is not worth the risk or the trouble.

But notice how dramatically the logic for property owners changes if we imagine that large numbers of tenants are evicted (or voluntarily move to avoid evictions) because of the Covid-19 crisis. If the vacancy rate rises for whatever reason, if it becomes harder to find new low-income tenants able to pay the rent, if existing tenants are months and months behind in their rent, then the risks and trouble of flipping a building become less daunting. And now imagine that the mom-and-pop landlord has either lost the building through foreclosure or decided to sell to avoid foreclosure and the new owner is a Wall Street hedge fund. How much will the risk and trouble of flipping slow an institutionally financed global investment firm? A number of Wall Street firms have already created special acquisition funds in order to take advantage of financial trouble in this housing stock.⁶ Lower rent buildings in neighborhoods with "high-end rent potential" (i.e., gentrifying areas) will likely be high-priority opportunities for these funds. There is no reason to expect these investors to pause for even a moment to consider the social implications of evicting the remaining tenants and repositioning these properties as "upmarket." To protect the tenants and the stability of these communities, government leaders and advocates must intervene now to preserve these buildings before they end up in a global investment portfolio.

Acquisition Strategies Confront Displacement, Overcome Disinvestments, and Grow Secure Communities

Over the past 50 years, as public investment in affordable housing has declined, a sophisticated private-market affordable housing development industry has emerged in the United States, backed by private capital. With some exceptions, this capacity has been focused on the task of building new housing rather than renovating and preserving existing housing, the result of which has been a loss of affordable housing as existing units are demolished or lose affordability restrictions.⁷ This decades-long experiment in market-based solutions for affordable housing demonstrates systemic failure; transferring homes and land into community ownership is a much more direct and sustainable strategy to ensure the long-term viability of our affordable housing stock. Focusing on the acquisition of existing housing can both expand our stock of affordable homes at scale and meet other critical community needs.

Confronting Displacement

In high-cost cities on both coasts and increasingly in centrally located neighborhoods in middle-market cities everywhere, a significant stock of housing that is relatively lower cost today could be converted to higher rent housing. Neighborhoods that have experienced racialized disinvestment are now experiencing a surge of interest from people with high incomes, creating an economic pressure that has been gradually squeezing longestablished lower income communities, generally communities of color, out of these areas.

The economic impacts of the coronavirus crisis could have very long-term impacts on the financing and ownership of this multifamily rental housing stock that is affordable to workingclass people without subsidies. If local rental property owners are unable to pay their mortgages, the risk is that these properties will be acquired by banks and sold to Wall Street investors. A number of Wall Street investment firms have created funds specifically aimed at acquiring "distressed properties" in the wake of the Covid-19 pandemic.⁸ At the same time, the combined possibilities of falling prices and federal recovery funding could create a rare opportunity to purchase existing lower cost housing and preserve it forever as affordable housing.

While new construction of affordable housing can help ensure some income diversity in a gentrifying neighborhood, it is difficult to ensure that the new tenants reflect the demographics of the existing neighborhood and have roots in the community. Most of the time this is not a problem. Adding lower cost housing anywhere in a high-cost housing market benefits all lower income tenants, and we frequently see very long waiting lists of eligible tenants for available units. But in the context of a neighborhood experiencing rapid displacement, housing policy is called on to serve a second goal beyond providing housing that is less expensive. Community advocates often want the housing to help preserve an established community. And if that is the goal, city policymakers need to target households who are established members of the community that is at risk. Buying existing buildings where those families live is often the most effective way to target limited affordable housing funding to the families most at risk of displacement. In the face of intense gentrification pressure, targeted acquisition strategies can be key to maintaining racial diversity and achieving racial equity.

Overcoming Disinvestment

Most low-income communities are not gentrifying and instead are struggling with disinvestment. Real estate speculators often prey on communities by buying properties with inexpensive rental units and then extracting profits through unreasonable fees or inadequate maintenance or both.

In *Evicted*, Matthew Desmond documents how owners of Milwaukee's least expensive housing used evictions to exploit the city's lowest income tenants.⁹ The threat of eviction allows owners to avoid making even minimal investment in quality and safety. Landlords can draw tenants in with low rents and then impose significant late payment penalties and other fees that they enforce with the threat of eviction. Disinvestment and poor maintenance can create a downward spiral that drags whole neighborhoods to the bottom. When one owner allows a property to fall into disrepair, it creates a disincentive for nearby owners to invest in their buildings. Public code enforcement efforts can sometimes address the worst health and safety violations but can also result in displacement of vulnerable tenants.

Community ownership, on the other hand, can stabilize these buildings, enabling investment in quality maintenance and management without threatening the stability of existing tenants. Targeted investment in one building can strengthen and stabilize a block, and a broader program of acquisition can help stabilize a whole neighborhood.

Growing Secure Communities

While they may seem like opposites, gentrification and disinvestment are both symptoms of the same system of speculative ownership. Community ownership provides an antidote to both problems. Acquiring less expensive housing in targeted communities provides a means of building community wealth and stability. Community ownership of housing, whether families owning their own homes individually or collectively through nonprofit organizations or housing cooperatives, can put residents in a situation where they have more predictable housing costs over time, potentially creating an opportunity for them to save, invest in education, or otherwise make choices that contribute to better economic outcomes over the long run. This opportunity for stability and security is critical for the long-term health of individuals (particularly children) and for our communities as a whole.¹⁰

These kinds of "preservation" projects have happened in special circumstances in most cities. However, we have not yet, for the most part, built the infrastructure and capacity necessary or secured the funding needed to systematically invest in neighborhood preservation and stability at the scale that is needed.

Project RoomKey/HomeKey

In response to the coronavirus pandemic, California launched an ambitious effort to rapidly expand temporary housing for homeless Californians, primarily by repurposing hotels and motels. Project Roomkey set an initial goal of securing up to 15,000 rooms for this purpose, and the program has moved more than 22,000 homeless individuals most vulnerable to Covid-19 off the street, out of shelters, and into isolation.¹¹ Initially these facilities were secured through short-term leases. The state used Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) funding to provide cost reimbursement to local cities and counties to pay for leasing these rooms and provided wraparound supports including meals, security, and custodial services as well as behavioral health and health-care services.

A follow up effort, Project Homekey, provides resources for the permanent acquisition of these temporary facilities and other properties.¹² California allocated \$550 million in federal Covid relief funding plus \$250 million in state general-fund revenue to capitalize a grant pool. City and county governments apply to the state to use the funds to purchase hotels and motels and other available properties for use as permanent housing for formerly homeless residents.

These projects represent a fairly unprecedented effort to acquire and preserve housing, both in terms of the amount of funding committed and the speed of implementation.¹³ The coronavirus crisis created a set of conditions that are unique, but point to conditions that may be necessary for the success of any acquisition strategy at scale. First, the crisis brought public attention to the ways that housing insecurity threatens everyone's health. This attention generated public will and support for action, making it clear that there was so much more that local and state governments could have been doing all along to respond appropriately to homelessness. At the same time, the dramatic impact of the crisis on the travel and tourism industry created a new set of "distressed" properties that were suddenly available for purchase. While it is too soon to draw conclusions about the effectiveness of implementation of these programs, they clearly show both how challenging it is for multiple layers of government to closely coordinate on an effort as complex as building acquisitions and that such coordination is ultimately possible when we all agree that housing stability is an urgent priority. Already local governments such as Los Angeles are learning from this experience and beginning to structure local programs to build on it.

^{3.0} What Is an Equitable Acquisition Strategy?

Below: An equitable acquisition strategy can help to stabilize distressed properties like this through rehabilitation funds as a part of the acquisition process.



An acquisition strategy is any program or policy that seeks to support the public or nonprofit purchase of existing housing to preserve it as affordable housing. Buying and preserving existing housing can be an effective way to expand the stock of income-restricted affordable housing units. But an "equitable acquisition strategy" centers impacted communities as the decision makers to define the needs and solutions and directs limited acquisition resources to a particular community or neighborhood to preserve not just affordable housing but also broader community stability. Most often this kind of strategy is used as a means of confronting gentrification and displacement or long-term disinvestment.

This paper focuses on the preservation of existing privately owned and occupied housing—sometimes called "naturally occurring affordable housing" or NOAH. Many communities are also pursuing critical acquisition strategies focused on commercial space for community-serving retail, community facilities, or job-creating small businesses. Some programs focus on acquisition of vacant land, and vacant publicly owned land in particular, to build new affordable housing. Other programs focus on preserving existing publicly subsidized affordable housing with income restrictions that are scheduled to expire. All of these overlapping community strategies share many of the characteristics of the acquisition strategies we discuss in this paper. Some of the financing and policy tools we discuss below are relevant to those other preservation programs as well and most of the community capacity building would be directly helpful with those other strategies. But each of these other programs may also require specialized tools and resources that are not included in this paper. See the Appendix for additional resources for these types of strategies.

Principles for Equitable Acquisition

To further racial equity goals, an acquisition strategy must adhere to these principles:

- **Carefully target resources.** Rather than acquiring indiscriminately, a targeted strategy must have a clear definition of the community that the strategy is intended to support and protect. The strategy can be targeted to support a particular racial or ethnic group, families, seniors, a geographic neighborhood, or in any other way that communities define themselves. Regardless of whether the strategy explicitly centers race, it can further racial equity as long as the targeting is defined carefully.
- **Ensure community leadership.** An equitable strategy must include community representatives and leaders in key decisions at every stage of the process, from policy design to acquisition to long-term management.
- **Prioritize community ownership.** All equitable acquisition strategies seek to remove housing from the profit-driven market and place it under the control of stable community-based nonprofits with direct accountability to tenants and other community stakeholders. Many programs also focus on tenant ownership strategies, including limited equity cooperatives or community land trusts, which give building residents direct control and the ability to build wealth through ownership.
- **Preserve long-term affordability.** Once buildings are acquired, the strategy must provide a mechanism for ensuring that the acquired housing remains affordable to and occupied by the targeted community for the very long term.

Case Study: San Francisco's Comprehensive Approach

San Francisco's Mission District has been ground zero in the fight against gentrification and displacement. The neighborhood's low-income Latinx community has been systematically displaced over the past two decades. After years of fighting for stronger tenant protections, increased funding for affordable housing, and other public policies, neighborhood leaders began to focus on buying existing buildings as a way to stabilize tenants in place. One neighborhood-based nonprofit, Mission Economic Development Association (MEDA), has taken on this challenge and gradually accumulated a portfolio of 34 buildings with four to 25 units in each building. MEDA's success with this modest strategy has been the culmination of a very broad-based effort involving dozens of affordable housing and tenant advocacy organizations, significant changes to city policy including Community Opportunity to Purchase legislation, the development of a new citywide "Small Sites" subsidy program specifically for these small buildings, and the creation of an independent acquisition loan fund.¹⁴ All of these pieces together make it possible for MEDA and allied community-housing organizations working in other gentrifying neighborhoods to implement a highly targeted program that is successfully protecting hundreds of neighborhood families.

This comprehensive program grew out of years of tenant organizing work. In 2008, the Council of Community Housing Organizations (CHCO) began organizing San Francisco antidisplacement activists frustrated with the city's inability to slow the rate of evictions, and developed a strategic focus on acquiring buildings as a tool for stabilizing tenants in place. The following year, the Board of Supervisors (San Francisco's legislative body) set aside funding for a new preservation program, but it took until 2014 for the city to formally launch a "small sites program" aimed at helping community-based nonprofits to buy smaller (five to 25 units) occupied apartment buildings.

Initially the program was set up as a very small pilot effort, but as the first purchases happened, the public began to see the potential and the nonprofit partners began to build capacity to pursue more properties. Advocates were able to push the city to later expand the program, but organizations like MEDA that were using the program found it very difficult to acquire buildings even with city funding. Nonprofits were routinely outbid by private investors who were able to move much more quickly to buy any buildings that came on the market. A 2014 citywide tenant convention identified "right to purchase" legislation as a top priority. CHCO led a coalition that included nonprofit developers, community groups, tenant groups, as well as other social justice allies and labor to push for new legislation. That effort became a four-year campaign! And finally, in 2019, San Francisco adopted the Community Opportunity to Purchase Act (COPA) which was modeled on DC's Tenant Opportunity to Purchase Act (TOPA) but focused more on acquisition by nonprofit organizations than direct tenant acquisition. COPA requires owners of apartment buildings to notify a list of community nonprofits (many of the same organizations that use the Small Sites program funding) before listing their buildings for sale on the open market. Under COPA, the nonprofits have the first opportunity to bid on properties as well as the chance to match any higher offer later. Thanks to this right-to-purchase legislation, MEDA and the other community-housing providers receive notice of available buildings and have a chance to evaluate them for purchase before they are on the open market.

Another key challenge for building acquisitions, especially given the urgency of preventing potential evictions or intervening when a property is at risk of being flipped on the speculation market, has been the time that it takes for nonprofits to purchase buildings with the city's funding. Property owners have to be unusually patient while the nonprofits navigate the city's funding requisition process. To help speed the process up, the city created the Housing Accelerator Fund (HAF) as a complementary bridge-loan tool for housing preservation projects.¹⁵ The accelerator is a loan fund specifically for the acquisition of properties to be used for affordable housing development. HAF finances both small sites acquisitions as well as the acquisition of land for larger affordable housing projects. For small sites, the HAF can make a quick decision to fund the full cost of acquiring and rehabbing a building, with a two- to three-year term for the city to then provide the "take out" long-term funding to the nonprofit to pay back the loan. This allows community developers like MEDA to buy buildings even before the city has made the funding allocation, and it allows the HAF money to revolve and be used for multiple project acquisitions over time.

To date the Small Sites acquisition/preservation program has preserved nearly 400 residential units and several commercial/ retail units in more than 40 buildings. One key factor limiting the growth of the program has been limited staff capacity at the participating nonprofit organizations. In addition to all of the work related to negotiating purchasing and planning for renovations, the nonprofit sponsors must invest considerable time in tenant outreach and organizing to ensure that residents understand what it means for their building to be acquired by a nonprofit owner with city-subsidized affordability standards. While the Small Sites program provides permanent affordability, tenants must give up protections under the city's rent control ordinance. Some of the participating nonprofits have lacked the staffing capacity to carry out the complex property acquisition and rehab processes and/or to effectively manage tenant relationships through the transition to long-term property management. Recognizing that success in the housing preservation work would rely heavily on growing the staffing capacity of nonprofits, advocates pushed the city to develop a capacity-building grant program to fund small sites developers, which includes funds for tenant outreach and anticipates new partnerships with community organizations that focus on tenant outreach in underserved communities of color.

San Francisco's experience shows that a successful acquisition strategy requires a number of disparate parts working closely together. No one organization and no one piece of public policy can address the problem alone. Instead, housing advocates in San Francisco have built a multifaceted ecosystem of support for acquisition, and this combination of elements has made successful acquisition at a reasonable scale possible.

For more about San Francisco's strategy and in-depth profiles of other acquisition efforts in the San Francisco Bay area, see Preserving Affordability, Preventing Displacement—Acquisition-Rehabilitation of Unsubsidized Affordable Housing in the Bay Area (2020).

Below: The famous "Pigeon Palace" in the Mission district of San Francisco, California, was acquired by the San Francisco Community Land Trust in 2015 with support from Mission Economic Development Association. (*Chris Carlsson*)



Key Elements of Any Acquisition Strategy

A number of tools are used by local governments and communitybased organizations to acquire existing less-expensive housing. These tools (cataloged below) can be used in isolation to preserve affordable housing, but, to be effective, any acquisition strategy must incorporate these three elements:

- Local capacity: These transactions only happen when the local community has sufficient human and organizational capacity to identify appropriate properties, arrange the financing, negotiate the sale, manage any renovations, and ultimately own and manage the buildings for long-term community benefit. This capacity may be based within local community-based nonprofits or local government agencies or a combination of both, but nothing happens without it. Communities must invest to ensure that this capacity exists within the affected communities.
- **Public policy:** Local government can tilt the playing field in favor of equity through public policy actions designed to facilitate acquisition of vulnerable housing.
- **Funding:** Policy actions alone generally do not get the job done. Policy must be combined with favorable and flexible financing resources if key properties are to be purchased by community-based organizations.

Challenges Facing Equitable Acquisition Strategies

Advocates for acquisition policies need to understand the complex set of reasons that most local affordable housing programs have not prioritized preservation of existing buildings in the past.

Preservation Can Be Surprisingly Expensive

As the cost of new construction has risen, acquiring and preserving existing housing has come to be seen as a lower cost strategy for securing affordable housing units. Purchasing older, lower cost housing and locking in income restrictions is generally less expensive than building entirely new affordable housing projects. One study found that acquisition-rehabilitation projects cost 25 to 45 percent less than new construction over the life cycle of a building.¹⁶

However, preservation projects can be shockingly expensive as well. Older buildings frequently require expensive renovations and, in particular, the older housing that is most "affordable" in the market often suffers from decades of deferred maintenance. All of these costs can be much greater if the building has been designated for historic preservation. While it may be possible to buy these buildings without immediately renovating, experienced community developers have learned the hard way that it is critical to fully renovate acquisitions when they are first purchased. When buying a building, private financing and public subsidy must be arranged and, if an expensive renovation is needed, it is critical to be able to identify the funds to do that up front. Upgrading building systems at the outset is also critical to managing the ongoing cost of building maintenance, which is key to keeping rents affordable over the long term. Acquisition and renovation also present very important opportunities to address energy efficiency in many older buildings, which impacts both the climate and household incomes. Sometimes community groups buy older buildings without the resources necessary to address deferred maintenance. This can lead to them managing substandard housing, losing money each year, and eventually selling the properties.

Renovating buildings with tenants living in them or relocating tenants temporarily while work is in progress can also add dramatically to the cost. In neighborhoods that are experiencing active gentrification, buying these buildings often requires paying a significant premium to effectively outbid speculative investors who anticipate displacing the current tenants and flipping the building (see Displacement Premium sidebar). In many cases the total cost of buying and renovating an older apartment building can be comparable to the cost of new construction.

However, it is also important to consider the social cost of not acting to preserve these buildings. When existing lessexpensive buildings are converted into higher cost housing, low-income tenants are often displaced and many end up homeless. In addition to the social, health, and moral costs, preserving affordable homes is often much less expensive than adding to the homeless population.

Displacement Premium

When a community developer buys an existing lower cost apartment building in a neighborhood where residents are experiencing displacement, one somewhat disturbing but inevitable piece of the high cost is what is sometimes called the "displacement premium." In general, apartment buildings sell for a price that is strictly based on the rent that tenants in that building are likely to pay. Higher rents mean a higher sales price. In most neighborhoods, buildings with relatively low rents sell for relatively low prices. But in gentrifying neighborhoods, these buildings sell for a premium. They sell for significantly more than their current rents would suggest. Often, they sell for so much more that the current rents could not possibly cover the mortgage payments. This happens because the potential buyers look at the change that is happening in the neighborhood and they assume that they will be able to displace the current tenants and replace them with higher income tenants paying a higher rent. For community-based developers, paying more than the current rents can support means bringing in more public subsidy to pay this displacement premium. It is one thing to bring in public subsidy to pay for renovations or to bring down market rents to a more affordable level, but it is uniquely frustrating to have to reward private property owners in this way. However, it is important to see that the level of this premium is a function of public policy. If cities have strong rent control and just cause eviction protections, this premium may be lower because investors recognize that illegally displacing tenants will be time consuming and risky. Public policies that protect tenants from eviction bring down the cost of targeted acquisitions by reducing the displacement premiums in the market. But even cities with strong protections may still see this premium if investors are confident that they can nonetheless get away with displacement. To try to address this, organizers and advocates in places such as New York City have negotiated agreements with lenders to not approve displacement loans, and instead peg their appraisal of the property value to the existing rents.¹⁷

Federal and State Subsidy Programs Have Limitations

Even when a building can be bought and fully renovated for less than the cost of newly constructed units, cities often prefer new construction. One reason for this is that the figure that matters the most to a city is often not the total cost but the city's share of that cost. State and federal housing programs will generally cover most of the costs for new construction of affordable housing, but for acquisitions cities are often on their own.

In San Francisco, for example, in 2019 the city estimated that each newly constructed affordable housing unit cost \$693,000 to build.¹⁸ However, because most of this money comes from outside subsidy sources, the city's share of the subsidy needed is "only" \$275,000 per affordable unit. In the city's acquisition program, a typical total cost including acquisition and renovation is less (\$497,000), but the city generally invests \$339,000 because of the difficulty in accessing outside resources for these projects.

It is not that state and federal affordable housing programs cannot be used for acquisitions, it is just that they are much harder to use. There are two particular challenges: timing and income eligibility.

Timing: The most generous state and federal housing subsidy programs are all managed competitively. This means that housing developers must put together complex applications and submit them before a deadline to compete for an award of funding. Because there are generally more projects than money, even "good" projects cannot count on winning these competitions, and it is not uncommon for strong new construction projects to submit several years in a row before winning the subsidy that they need to move forward. For a new construction project, if you can raise enough money to buy or option land, you can wait your turn for funding. But for an acquisition project, most of the money must be spent right away to buy the building. It is generally not possible to tie up an occupied building for years while you wait for uncertain outside subsidy funds. Income Eligibility: The most important affordable housing subsidy programs, such as the Low Income Housing Tax Credit (LIHTC) program, will only finance buildings that are essentially 100 percent affordable housing. If every tenant in an existing building earns less than the program's income limits (and can provide all the required documentation), then you can use a program to subsidize the purchase. But what happens if some of the tenants in the building you want to buy earn a little more than this limit? A property owner might move those tenants and replace them with eligible tenants, but that would be causing displacement. Even when the tenants seem to be mostly low income, it can be very challenging to collect the necessary income documentation from every tenant prior to purchasing an occupied building. Without this documentation, it is impossible to know whether the building will be eligible for the subsidy necessary to make the deal work. These uncertainties can be managed, but they make it even more challenging to leverage an outside subsidy to purchase occupied buildings.

The solution to this challenge is not to shy away from community acquisition strategies, but rather to call on state and federal governments to improve existing programs and funding streams to direct more funds toward equitable acquisition strategies. This includes increasing funding to programs such as the federal Housing Trust Fund and potentially creating new funding sources that are better designed for community ownership and acquisition strategies. Additionally, there have been calls to explore the creation of a new federal entity—such as a Social Housing Development Authority—that could facilitate community acquisition of properties.¹⁹

A Note on Income Eligibility for Low Income Housing Tax Credits

Prior to 2018, all the residents in the building needed to earn less than 60 percent of the area median income (AMI) in order to qualify for Low Income Housing Tax Credits. In 2018, Congress added an option for buildings where the tenants all earned less than 80 percent of AMI but the average income for the building was less than 60 percent of AMI. This makes acquisition projects somewhat easier because it allows a few slightly higher income tenants as long as other tenants have incomes that are much lower.

Acquisition, Preservation, and Racial Equity

For communities facing displacement, new construction cannot effectively preserve an existing community, even when it consists of 100 percent affordable housing. New affordable housing can make a big difference in stabilizing the income mix in a neighborhood: research suggests that newly built affordable housing can significantly reduce gentrification pressure.²⁰ But new construction may be too little and too late for many of the families who are trying to remain in their community. New affordable housing takes a long time to build and, because of this long timeframe, the majority of tenants will generally be new to the neighborhood.²¹ Even when new units are leased with some form of neighborhood preference or "right-to-return" policy in place, only a small share of units are likely to be allocated to long-term residents of the community.

By contrast, when a targeted acquisition program supports tenants or a nonprofit to purchase occupied buildings in a gentrifying neighborhood, it prevents the displacement of the tenants who remain in the building. Community or tenant ownership of the building provides tenants with immediate protection found in few other anti-displacement strategies.

Like production, preservation creates permanently affordable units. However, instead of expanding supply, preservation projects protect against displacement and lock in affordability. If preservation strategies are used in a way that targets critical resources to specific communities that are most at risk, it has the potential to have an impact that could not be achieved through production alone.

Pivoting to Acquisition in Minneapolis

Minneapolis has been experimenting with acquisition strategies for several years. The city has developed an innovative partnership with the Local Initiatives Support Corporation (LISC) that blends city money with outside funding to acquire apartment buildings to preserve affordable housing units. The program was designed to leverage the capacity of community nonprofits, including the Twin Cities Land Bank, which had been formed during the foreclosure crisis. The city and LISC recognized the need for more community-based partners including with organizations led by communities of color and invested in supporting emerging local developers—both nonprofits and small for-profit developers. When the coronavirus pandemic hit, the city recognized that there may soon be an opportunity to expand the impact of their acquisition program. They secured flexible funding that would enable them to quickly redirect housing funding that had been intended for new construction to expand funding for acquisition of "naturally occurring affordable housing." Working through an Intergovernmental Stabilization Group (ISG), Minneapolis was able to coordinate both the preservation of subsidized affordable units and the acquisition of key market properties critical to ongoing affordability.

Lessons from the Single-Family Foreclosure Crisis

At the turn of the century, homeownership seemed within reach for more Americans than ever before. Rapidly rising home values and dramatically greater access to credit presented many Americans with the opportunity to purchase a home. However, the promise of homeownership was largely an illusion. Financial institutions, incentivized by fees received for mortgage securitization, aggressively marketed risky subprime mortgages to poor communities, particularly communities of color. Borrowers were often outright deceived about loan terms and eligibility requirements.²² When home values began to freefall in 2006, millions of Americans found themselves unable to pay off the costly mortgages pushed on them by pernicious financial institutions. Widespread subprime mortgage defaults led to a catastrophic recession and an unprecedented foreclosure crisis. And the housing crash fell hardest on communities of color and African American communities in particular. The foreclosure crisis cut Black wealth in half.²³

The US foreclosure crisis, marked by abnormally high foreclosure rates, lasted about a decade, far longer than the Great Recession. According to CoreLogic, over 7.7 million foreclosures were completed in the US from 2007 to 2016.²⁴ At the peak of the crisis in 2010, 24 percent of mortgages were underwater, meaning that nearly one in four borrowers owed more than their home was worth.²⁵

On average, foreclosed properties sell for 27 percent less than comparable properties.²⁶ Speculators can take advantage of these low prices to buy and hold foreclosed properties as assets, resulting in high vacancy rates in some neighborhoods. "Distressed" neighborhoods with several foreclosures and vacancies may suffer from more crime than comparable neighborhoods with fewer foreclosures. Additionally, studies found that a foreclosure causes the property values of neighboring homes to fall by around 1 percent.²⁷ The Center for Responsible Lending estimates that this "contagion effect" led to \$502 billion in lost property values in 2009 alone.²⁸ Depressed property values diminish local government property tax revenues, which undermines the government's fiscal stability and harms the overall quality of life for the entire community.

In response to the foreclosure crisis, the federal government authorized three major programs to bring down foreclosure rates. From 2008 to 2018, Congress allocated \$853 million to NeighborWorks America through the National Foreclosure Mitigation Counseling (NFMC) program. NFMC was highly successful, allowing grantees to offer housing counseling to 2.14 million homeowners at risk of foreclosure. According to an Urban Institute study, owners who received counseling were nearly two times more likely to cure a troubled loan and avoid foreclosure than owners who did not.²⁹ The other two programs were components of the 2009 Making Home Affordable (MHA) program, which was a piece of the \$700 billion Troubled Asset Relief Program (TARP) intended to address the financial crisis. The Home Affordable Foreclosure Alternatives (HAFA) program provided a streamlined process and a \$10,000 check to owners seeking to sell their homes via short sale or deed in lieu to avoid foreclosure. Before the program expired in 2016, over 440,000 HAFA transactions were completed, giving homeowners more than \$4.4 billion in financial assistance. The Home Affordable Modification Program (HAMP) incentivized mortgage servicers to offer homeowners facing foreclosure loan modifications that would reduce their monthly payments. HAMP was criticized for being a voluntary program that does not require servicers to lower the principal owed on the mortgages.³⁰ Approximately 28 percent of owners who received loan modifications defaulted again, indicating that the terms offered by servicers were not particularly favorable to homeowners. The program did

help 1.5 million homeowners avoid foreclosure, but this number was far below the Obama Administration projection of 4 million homeowners.

In 2008, Congress established the Neighborhood Stabilization Program (NSP), a decentralized HUD initiative designed to mitigate the negative impact of foreclosures on surrounding property values and neighborhood conditions. Through three rounds of NSP funding from 2008 to 2010, HUD allocated \$6.9 billion to certain state and local governments, with localities hit the hardest by foreclosures and defaults receiving the most funding. The funds could be used for the acquisition and rehabilitation of abandoned or foreclosed homes, financing mechanisms, such as down payment assistance, demolition and redevelopment, and land banking. Acquisition and rehabilitation activities accounted for approximately half of NSP spending, but there was substantial variation in how NSP grantees utilized the funding.

NSP had mixed results. A comprehensive evaluation suggests that NSP helped localities address the speculation issue.³¹ Of the properties acquired by local governments with NSP funds, 77 percent were investor-owned, and roughly 60 percent of them became owner-occupied after NSP intervention. Research shows that NSP succeeded as a stimulus program, providing jobs for workers involved in property rehabilitation and allowing local governments and nonprofits to build capacity. The organizations supported by NSP funds helped millions of families stay in their homes or find affordable housing during the crisis. However, NSP failed to achieve its primary goal of arresting the spillover effects associated with foreclosures. A 2011 evaluation found that NSP interventions had no significant impact on nearby property values or neighborhood crime rates. A 2014 study found NSP interventions were associated with a slight deterioration in neighborhood social conditions, such as community investment.³² An "average" census tract receiving NSP dollars rehabilitated 7 out of 58 financially distressed properties with an investment of just \$1.2 million. The rehabilitated properties may not have been clustered closely enough to counteract the aggregate effect of several foreclosures on nearby property values. The study argues that organizations receiving NSP funding did not adequately engage community members before intervening. Learning from these lessons, new federal programs should be designed to direct investments to building local capacity for community and tenant acquisition and ownership of buildings.

^{4.0} Making Acquisitions Work: Capacity, Policy, and Finance Tools

Below: Chinatown residents and displaced residents in Boston, Massachusetts, rallied to call for row house protections. The Chinatown Community Land Trust later purchased this row house and converted it from short-term rental use into three compact affordable condos on a 99-year ground lease. *(Chinese Progressive Association)*



Building Local Capacity

Successful targeted acquisition strategies require taking critical less-expensive housing units out of the speculative real estate market and putting them into the hands of the community. But a community itself cannot buy and own real estate—that requires an effective community-serving organization. A local property acquisition strategy can only be as effective as the organization (or group of organizations) implementing it. No single strategy or type of organization is right in every place. Different communities have different conditions that require different approaches. But every community needs at least one organization that can lead the process and learn what works. And while these organizations can be structured quite differently, the day-to-day work of managing an acquisition strategy tends to look quite similar regardless of which type of organization is doing it.

Building a Local Coalition

Often the place to start building local capacity is by convening a coalition of stakeholders who support the goal of building a targeted acquisition strategy. This coalition can play a formal role in the implementation of a public agency-led strategy or it can informally convene key organizations to ensure that different entities are moving in the same direction. Because an effective acquisition strategy requires careful targeting, a broad-based and inclusive coalition provides an important way to get buy-in on the right way to target the community or communities that are most impacted. A coalition of community groups and advocates plays a critical role in building support for policies and funding for acquisition and community ownership, including tenant organizing, data research and analysis, messaging and communications, engaging with policymakers, and developing the policies and strategies. A coalition can serve as an ongoing clearinghouse for information that could be critical to refining the strategy over time as well.

Potential stakeholders include:

- Anti-displacement advocates
- · Neighborhood residents and tenant leaders
- Community-based housing counseling agencies
- Legal advocates and legal aid staff
- City housing department staff
- City human services department or continuum of care staff
- County housing department staff
- Nonprofit housing developers
- Community service agencies
- Community development bankers and lenders

Case Study: Oakland Community Land Trust

The history and growth of the Oakland Community Land Trust illustrates the benefits and challenges of building local capacity to do equitable acquisition work.

Single-family home foreclosures began to rise dramatically in Oakland, California, in 2007 and exploded in 2008, particularly in historically African American neighborhoods in East and West Oakland. Throughout 2008 and 2009, community organizers and resident leaders at ACORN Oakland organized a series of "Foreclosure Reality Tours" to give elected officials a clearer view of the impact that vacant foreclosed homes were having on already struggling neighborhoods. ACORN's community-based leaders studied possible strategies for responding to the vacancies, and they had the foresight to recognize that while these homes may be empty now, over the longer term the bigger threat was that the Bay Area's strong housing market would eventually return and these vacant homes would be flipped to higher income residents in a way that fueled further gentrification. ACORN leaders, in partnership with the Urban Strategies Council, decided to lift up the idea of creating a community land trust that could acquire foreclosed homes in the hardest-hit neighborhoods and sell them back to community members as permanently affordable homeownership opportunities. In January 2009, the Oakland Community Land Trust was incorporated as a 501(c)(3) nonprofit corporation.

The launch of the new organization coincided with the sudden availability of new financial resources necessary to acquire and renovate foreclosed homes in Oakland. The City of Oakland received \$8.25 million in Neighborhood Stabilization Program (NSP) funding from the federal government. Oakland didn't have the staff inside city government necessary to buy and renovate homes and none of the city's existing nonprofit housing partners had that expertise either. The city issued a request for proposals (RFP) looking for an organization that could lead the program. The Land Trust organizers proposed to use the NSP money to buy and renovate 200 foreclosed homes. But because the organization was brand new it was difficult to convince the city to invest. City staff worried that a new organization would not be able to mobilize quickly enough to respond to the crisis within the time allotted for the program. In the end, the Oakland City Council selected the Land Trust as a recipient of NSP funds for single-family acquisition-rehabilitation, but rather than picking a single organization as their RFP had suggested, they spread the limited funding between several

nonprofits. Oakland invested \$4.6 million of the more than \$10 million that it ultimately received in NSP funding through the new Land Trust.

The Land Trust faced significant challenges in getting off the ground in those early years. Perhaps the biggest obstacle was the aggressive competition for foreclosed homes from Wall Street-backed private investment funds. The Land Trust was an unfamiliar organization using a new and very complex public funding source requiring weeks of review and approvals, and they were competing with investors with cash in hand ready to buy properties in a matter of days. To make matters worse, federal guidelines for the NSP funding dictated that nonprofits like the Land Trust could only bid up to 99 percent of the appraised value of a foreclosed property. In practice, in markets with burgeoning investor activity, this meant that nonprofit buyers were at a severe disadvantage and were routinely outbid by cash buyers. This situation was exacerbated by federal programs that actively facilitated the disposition of distressed properties to Wall Street firms and a failure to hold banks accountable for the flood of foreclosures in neighborhoods like East and West Oakland.

Below: This home in Oakland, California, was purchased by the Oakland Community Land Trust. (*Stealing Beauty Photography*)



In the end, of the more than 4,000 homes that were foreclosed upon in East and West Oakland in 2007 and 2008, the Oakland Community Land Trust was only able to purchase 17, despite doing due diligence on nearly 200 potential acquisitions. A 2017 report found that 61 percent of the homes that the Land Trust had targeted but been unable to purchase remained investor owned and that the typical home had tripled in value within 10 years.³³

In the years since the foreclosure crisis, the Oakland Community Land Trust has grown and become an effective partner for many other acquisition projects. The organization currently has a total of 42 properties, including a mix of single-family homes, multiunit housing cooperatives, mixed-use properties with community-serving commercial space, and a scattered-site urban farm. The Land Trust is a key partner in Bay Area 4 All's Oakland Preservation Initiative, which is bringing together tenant leaders and national financial resources to acquire occupied buildings in Oakland. In 2016, Oakland voters approved a new infrastructure bond including \$100 million to fund antidisplacement-focused housing preservation efforts. In 2019, the city council set aside \$12 million specifically for acquisition of properties with less than 25 units by community land trusts or limited equity housing cooperatives. The Land Trust is currently using these funds to buy small buildings in partnership with tenants.

Building capacity takes sustained investment over time, something that can be difficult to do in the midst of crisis. But it also requires political will and a commitment to racial equity to be willing to redesign existing programs and funding sources at all levels of government to prioritize preservation and community ownership. Community-based land trusts have a real value-add and can be supported to do the work at scale. To do so requires doing things differently rather than shoehorning this work into existing programs.

Key Roles in Implementation

A number of key roles have to be performed for a targeted acquisition strategy to move forward.

Tenant Outreach/Organizing

- Identify properties where tenants are facing displacement
- Communicate with tenants about needs and conditions
- Collect information about rents and tenant incomes
- · Involve tenants in key decisions
- Ensure that tenants understand their rights and responsibilities in a purchase
- Keep tenants informed about progress
- Provide management and leadership training to tenants

Property Evaluation

- Search for available properties
- Tour buildings
- Estimate rehabilitation costs
- Develop acquisition budgets

Development

- Secure acquisition financing
- Coordinate purchases
- · Select and oversee contractors for renovations
- Update leases (adjust rents if necessary)
- Secure long-term loans
- Secure permanent housing subsidies

Property Stewardship

- Collect rents
- Market vacant units
- Select tenants for vacancies (screen for income eligibility)
- Provide regular building maintenance
- Provide required reporting to public agency funders
- · Coordinate and plan for long-term capital improvements

Strategic Planning

- Manage community engagement and partnerships to identify and prioritize community needs
- Develop criteria for acquisitions to target the highest-need communities
- · Monitor market conditions and displacement risk data
- Educate the public and other stakeholders about the strategy
- Coordinate coalition(s) to ensure accountability
- Track and communicate results

These capabilities can be built within one organization or even spread between several organizations, but careful attention to capacity building is critical to the success of any acquisition strategy.

Displacement Alert Project

The Association for Neighborhood and Housing Development started the Displacement Alert Project (DAP) in 2016 to bring together data, visualizations, and organizing to help preserve New York City's stock of affordable housing.³⁴ DAP compiles "fragmented information from various public records and databases and makes it more easily accessible for advocates by displaying it in one place with intuitive, color-coded metrics." Tenant organizers and city officials have used the data to identify buildings where displacement risk is high, to direct outreach efforts, and to note overall trends. During the Covid-19 pandemic, DAP data has been used to track how foreclosures and other aspects of the housing market have been impacted by the crisis.

The Types of Organizations Needed

An acquisition program can be housed within a public agency or a community-based nonprofit organization. Several very different types of nonprofits have successfully built capacity to lead acquisition programs.

- **Publicly Controlled Development Corporations:** Nonprofit entities created and generally controlled by the local government to coordinate development or redevelopment including for affordable housing. Example: Restore Neighborhoods LA was created by the City of Los Angeles to acquire vacant foreclosed properties.³⁵
- Community Development Corporations (CDCs): Nonprofit affordable housing developers with strong ties to communities. Example: Chicanos Por La Causa led a 13-member consortium of Latinx-serving nonprofits that used federal funding to acquire and resell over 1,000 single-family homes and 1,500 units of multifamily housing in Arizona, Nevada, and New Mexico.³⁶
- Neighborhood-Based Development Corporations: Small or start-up organizations that buy and own housing in one neighborhood. Example: PUSH Buffalo's housing arm, Buffalo Neighborhood Stabilization Company (BNSC), is a nonprofit housing corporation dedicated to creating affordable housing units on the Massachusetts Avenue Corridor of Buffalo's West Side.³⁷
- Community Development Financial Institutions (CDFIs): Community-based lending organizations (generally nonprofit) with a mission to support the development of historically disinvested communities. Example: The Community Investment Corporation, a Chicago-based CDFI, directly acquires distressed properties to preserve affordable housing.³⁸
- Housing Authorities: Public agencies created to own and manage federally funded public housing units and voucher programs. Example: In addition to its role managing traditional public housing, the King County, Washington, Housing Authority has acquired a portfolio of more than 2,000 units of "naturally occurring affordable housing" that they own and operate as below-market-rate rental housing.³⁹

- **Community Land Trusts:** Community-based nonprofit organizations that hold ownership of land to preserve permanent affordability of housing. Example: The Oakland Community Land Trust was created in 2009 to manage the City of Oakland's effort to acquire, renovate, and resell vacant foreclosed homes.⁴⁰
- Land Banks: Public or nonprofit entities that temporarily hold title to vacant or underutilized real estate for future redevelopment, including as affordable housing. Example: The Land Bank Twin Cities operates in the seven-county metropolitan region of Minneapolis and St. Paul with a mission to secure "strategic real estate opportunities to benefit people with low to moderate incomes, prioritizing people of color and populations facing barriers."⁴¹
- Limited Equity Housing Cooperatives: Created to buy and finance the building when tenants purchase their own buildings (either alone or with active support from a sponsoring nonprofit). Rather than owning their individual units, each resident owns one share in the cooperative corporation.

Chicago's Community Investment Corporation: A CDFI for Acquisition and Rehabilitation

In Chicago, the Community Investment Corporation (CIC) is a community development financial institution established in 1974 by a consortium of banks working with the City of Chicago to finance rehabilitation of existing inexpensive rental housing. CIC's affiliate, Community Initiatives Inc. (CII), directly acquires distressed properties to preserve affordable housing. By holding the properties or selling the properties to trusted community developers, CIC gives new owners the opportunity to rehabilitate the buildings and provide better management.

CII works closely with the City of Chicago to implement public policies targeting property acquisition. For example, the city's Troubled Buildings Initiative (TBI) targets multifamily rental properties that have been failing to pay property taxes and mortgages and pose a risk of abandonment. The city devised a legal process to take possession of these properties before they become blighted. CII buys these properties and provides stable temporary property management before reselling them to private or nonprofit owners. Similarly, they implement the state's Distressed Condominium Act, which allows for "deconverting" condominium buildings that are no longer economically viable. CII accepts transfers of government-owned properties and liens. CII also acquires and rehabilitates vacant one- to four-unit properties. The rehabilitated units are rented out, sold to homebuyers, or bought by developers. To date, CII has acquired 750 properties comprising 5,352 units.

King County Public Housing Authority's Acquisition Program

While most housing authorities focus on owning and managing housing units that were built with HUD public housing programs, the King County Housing Authority (KCHA) in Washington has also developed a robust acquisition program. The KCHA purchases existing, sometimes distressed, apartment buildings and complexes and operates them as low- to moderate-income rentals. These properties are financed with low-income housing tax credits or tax-exempt bonds, and are managed by private companies under contract with KCHA. Residents contact property management offices to apply (rather than going through the housing authority waiting list) and pay flat rents that are not based on their incomes the way traditional public housing units would be. KCHA has acquired a portfolio of more than 2,000 units of this type of housing. More recently, they have been targeting existing inexpensive rental properties that are located along the region's major transit corridors—areas that are likely to experience rapid price increases.

Local Capacity Assessment

One way to evaluate the need for capacity building is to complete a capacity assessment. This process involves explicitly identifying all of the public and nonprofit agencies in the area that *might* be able to play a role in the acquisition strategy and then documenting each agency's existing staffing and relationships related to each of the roles above. It is also important to consider how the stock of available buildings locally might relate to the specific capacities needed. For example, the organizations that are best equipped to manage renovation or property management of a 100-unit building might be different from those best for a 10-unit building. Often the capacity to buy, own, and manage real estate is quite separate from the capacity to work in coalition with community stakeholders and tie an acquisition strategy closely to existing anti-displacement efforts. The organizations that own large portfolios of real estate do not always have strong ties to communities where displacement is underway. Similarly, the organizations that may be most clearly focused on combating displacement often have no experience with the technicalities of buying and owning real estate, or managing apartment buildings. Building a targeted acquisition strategy that furthers racial equity requires both of these capacities. Some communities are fortunate enough to have one experienced communitybased developer who is strong in both ways, but in most places additional capacity has to be built.

It is also important to note that concerns about capacity have frequently been used as an excuse for not putting resources in Black and Brown communities. Public agencies understandably focused on making acquisitions happen quickly have sometimes limited funding to organizations with proven track records in this area. But if that capacity is inequitably distributed currently, then limiting new investment to only organizations with established capacity can reproduce the inequity. The alternative is not to ignore capacity or overlook challenges but, instead, to invest in growth. If an acquisition strategy is going to provide for long-term community stabilization, it is often necessary to invest in building or expanding community-based capacity. A detailed capacity assessment should provide a road map for long-term investment rather than a pretext for avoiding investment. Often a clear-eyed understanding of current capacities can identify potential partnerships between established affordable housing developers and trusted community organizations that are stronger than any one organization would be alone.

Creating a New Organization

One challenging question that every community struggles with when launching a new acquisition strategy is whether it makes more sense to create a new organization to manage acquisitions or to ask an existing nonprofit organization (or public agency) to expand to undertake the program. There are advantages and challenges to both approaches. Building a new organization should not be undertaken lightly.

When building a new organization, it is critical to actively partner with existing organizations with experience and expertise in real estate. This is important both because there are difficult technical choices where experience can make a big difference and also because both lenders and public agencies are reluctant to invest significant resources into inexperienced organizations. However, if the goal is capacity building, it is essential that the new organization have meaningful responsibilities and a real opportunity to succeed or fail on its own.

Building a Network/Ecosystem

Often there is no one local organization that can single-handedly manage all of the elements of an acquisition strategy. A number of communities have responded not by building up one organization, but by building a coalition or network made up of multiple local organizations with complementary strengths. This strategy may be more work, but the result could be more resilient.

Two Los Angeles Models for Scaling Acquisition and Community Ownership: Restore Neighborhoods LA and the LA Acq/Rehab Working Group

At the height of the foreclosure crisis in 2009, the Los Angeles Housing Department (LAHD) received \$32.8 million in Neighborhood Stabilization Program (NSP) funding from the federal government. The next year they received an additional \$100 million. But, the housing department lacked the capacity to put these funds to work to buy foreclosed properties and stabilize neighborhoods. With help from Enterprise Community Partners, LAHD established a new community-based development organization, Restore Neighborhoods LA (RNLA) in 2009. RNLA contracted with LAHD to conduct bulk purchasing of foreclosed properties using these NSP funds.

RNLA purchases foreclosed or abandoned properties in the City of Los Angeles at a discount from lenders and loan services for resale to qualified owners. RNLA then restores or builds new residential buildings on these properties with ecofriendly and sustainable materials. Its mission is to improve the neighborhoods and create new affordable homeownership opportunities for low- to moderate-income households. RNLA has facilitated investment of more than \$140 million into Los Angeles neighborhoods and has improved or created more than 800 residential units, according to its website.

A more community-driven approach to building capacity for acquisition is emerging in LA with a partnership between community land trusts (CLTs) and community development corporations (CDCs). T.R.U.S.T. South LA, a neighborhoodfocused CLT, chose to partner with Abode Communities, a large regional affordable housing developer, to build Rolland Curtis Gardens. The project, which opened in 2019, prevented displacement of 48 low-income families and created 140 units of permanently affordable replacement housing. Building on this model, the LA Acq/Rehab Working Group has brought together the Los Angeles Community Land Trust Coalition with more established, mission-aligned CDCs and other partners including Enterprise Community Partners and the Legal Aid Foundation of LA. The working group is focused on acquisition of occupied properties with the potential for tenant ownership. The group has raised \$1 million in philanthropic funding to invest in CLT capacity building.

In 2020, Los Angeles County established a pilot program to help CLTs acquire tax-defaulted properties from the county and provided \$14 million for CLTs to acquire other four- to 20-unit properties in areas most at risk of displacement throughout the county. The working group secured a \$500,000 recoverable grant pool from SPARCC (The Strong, Prosperous, And Resilient Communities Challenge), which allows participating CLTs to place deposits and to invest up to \$25,000 in researching potential acquisitions to be repaid only if a project moves forward.

Making Capacity Building Explicit

While every acquisitions strategy requires local capacity, not everyone explicitly acknowledges that requirement and makes plans to build the necessary capacity. Capacity building takes time and an effective effort might have short-term goals (two to five years) as well as long-term goals (20+ years).

Community Leadership and Engagement

It is important to recognize that setting policy and program direction in a way that reflects the input of impacted communities is a key capacity that many cities lack. Often capacity building for acquisition begins with coalition-building work on the part of housing and tenant advocates and evolves over time into some kind of ongoing partnership with local government agencies. Once programs are underway and buildings are being acquired, every initiative needs a mechanism for ensuring that community members can set the program's direction. This can take the form of an ongoing coordination table, advisory committee or working group, or it can be structured into partnerships with community-based nonprofit organizations.

The report, Inclusive Processes to Advance Racial Equity in Housing Recovery: A Guide for Cities during the Covid-19 Pandemic, outlines a continuum of strategies that public agencies use to build authentic community partnerships ranging from outreach and engagement to give traditionally excluded communities a seat at the table up through "co-creation" of programs initiated by and involving ongoing leadership by community-based organizations.⁴²

Tenant Organizing

Acquisition of occupied buildings has an immediate impact on the lives of the building's residents. Because there is so much at stake for building tenants, every acquisition effort involves some degree of tenant organizing. Many equitable acquisitions programs prioritize tenant-initiated purchases where existing tenants approach a nonprofit sponsor to buy their building. Having organized tenants supporting and helping to push for a purchase can make a big difference. But, coordinating tenant involvement and leadership and keeping tenants in the loop and engaged in decision-making as a purchase is negotiated and through a transition to community ownership requires dedicated staffing capacity and specialized skills. Many community-based housing developers do not have tenant organizers on staff. In many cases, building a new acquisitions program requires new public investment in tenant organizing.

Many programs seek to take tenant organizing further and foster direct tenant ownership of buildings through limited equity cooperatives or other mechanisms. In addition to supporting tenants through the purchase, these programs generally need to build capacity for ongoing training and leadership development for resident ownership.

Sky Without Limits Cooperative

In May 2020, when tenants of five buildings in Minneapolis were able to buy their buildings from one of the state's most notorious landlords, it was the culmination of a long organizing campaign. It was 2014 when tenants in the properties first reached out to organizers at Inquilinxs Unidxs por Justicia (IX) for help addressing problems related to lack of maintenance, security, and pest infestation. IX and tenant leaders worked with residents in five separate buildings owned by the same landlord to demand action. They filed code enforcement complaints with the city and succeeded in having the owner's rental license revoked. For a time, the buildings were turned over to a courtappointed administrator. Ultimately the tenants organized a successful rent strike. The tenants leading the process, under the threat of eviction, filed a class-action lawsuit that the owner ultimately settled for \$18.5 million. After a court found the owner guilty of perjury, he agreed to sell the building to the tenants. Tenants worked with Land Bank Twin Cities to pull together the financing to purchase the buildings. Over the coming years, the Land Bank expects to turn over ownership to the Sky Without Limits Cooperative formed by the tenants.

Scaling Up Pilot Programs

Capacity building for real estate development necessarily requires moving somewhat slowly. To gain experience and expertise, an organization simply has to work on real projects and make real mistakes. Over time, key staff and managers will learn what works and what sounds good but is simply impractical. One of the best ways to build experience is through smaller pilot programs. A public agency can make funding for a limited pilot acquisition program available to community-based organizations and then give the grantees time to learn through doing before scaling up the program.

Note, however, that there is a big difference between a pilot program that makes a limited investment in anticipation of a larger scale effort and a permanently limited investment. Too often, cities will make very small investments that they refer to as "pilots" even though there is no realistic path to a greater scale. When these pilots go smoothly, the follow-up funding never comes and instead of building gradually to greater capacity, the nonprofit is left permanently underresourced. Eventually the organization's limited capacity may be cited as a reason for not expanding funding to the program. A true pilot program has both a stated time frame and explicit evaluation criteria.

Start-Up and Operating Support Grants

Affordable housing developers often pay for the staffing necessary to manage projects by charging fees upon successfully completing a project. For established organizations working with stable funding sources, this can be an appropriate way to pay for staffing. But for start-up programs working for what could be several years before the first completed project, it means the program will likely be understaffed or staffed by inexperienced people with other jobs to do. Building capacity explicitly means making the acquisitions program someone's full time job. The best way to ensure that a program has access to enough experienced staff from the start is through multiyear start-up and operating grants. Public agencies, often through a competitive process, can commit funding to pay an acquisition partner to hire appropriate staff and expand their capacity to begin exploring potential properties immediately.

Training and Technical Assistance

Another common capacity-building strategy is training and technical assistance. Government, nonprofit intermediaries, or philanthropic organizations often provide support to communitybased nonprofits to learn the real estate development skills necessary to undertake targeted acquisitions strategies. Sometimes this takes the form of workshops and webinars, but a more effective strategy is to provide ongoing access to mentoring from experienced community developers. Another strategy is loaning of staff from more experienced organizations who can help to both execute projects and train staff in the host organizations.

Building Public Agency Capacity

While formal capacity-building efforts often focus on the needs of community organizations, it is critical that local governments expand and support their own capacity to successfully support acquisition efforts. Providing funding for acquisitions can be similar to funding new housing development, but it often requires public agencies to move quickly and be flexible. Government agencies should plan for expanding staffing and providing key staff with training before launching acquisition programs. Additionally, agencies will need staff capacity to engage with and support community advocates to successfully create and implement these strategies.

Policy Tools

The public sector can tilt the playing field away from speculative investors and in favor of community-supportive investment by proactively supporting tenant and community ownership, stopping speculators from buying up the neighborhood, and smartly regulating the market.

Proactively Support Tenant and Community Ownership

Local ordinances can give tenants or community groups the first opportunity to purchase residential rental properties before they can be sold on the open market.

Tenant Opportunity to Purchase (TOPA) and Community Opportunity to Purchase (COPA)

These policies provide tenants living in rental buildings with advance notice that the landlord is planning to sell their building and an opportunity for them to collectively purchase the building. TOPA and COPA can be used to preserve affordable rental housing stock, empower tenants, and stabilize lowincome households. These policies generally create a process by which rental buildings can be sold, requiring landlords to provide a notice to their tenants when they intend to sell and a timeframe for the tenants to respond, make an offer, and secure financing. By providing renters with the opportunity to negotiate over the purchase of their buildings, TOPA and COPA policies level the playing field in highly speculative markets.

To be effective, TOPA/COPA policies must include tenant organizing, training, and technical assistance resources as well as legal support for tenants through the process of buying a building. With TOPA, tenants negotiate directly in the sale of their building or can choose to assign that right to another entity, while with COPA, that ability is given to a list of qualified nonprofits. Cities can ensure that the program results in permanently affordable housing by requiring a deed restriction or community land trust to protect affordability. Additional information and tools are available at https://allincities.org/ toolkit/tenant-community-opportunity-to-purchase.

Washington, DC—Tenant Opportunity to Purchase

Washington, DC's Tenant Opportunity to Purchase Act (TOPA) gives tenants in a building up for sale the first right to purchase. The District encourages tenants to exercise their rights to reduce displacement, increase neighborhood stability, and incentivize homeownership.⁴³

The ordinance allows tenants in multifamily buildings to form a tenant association and enter negotiations to buy the building from their landlord. The landlord is not required to sell to tenants, but the tenants have the first opportunity to make an offer and also the option to match the terms of any contract between their landlord and a third party. Tenants who successfully purchase their building must convert the units into cooperatives or condominiums. Tenants who are unable to purchase their building outright can assign their rights to other groups in exchange for better building conditions, limited rent increases, or other benefits including money.

The DC Department of Housing and Community Development supports low- and moderate-income (50 to 120 percent of the area median income) tenants in exercising their TOPA rights by offering financial support for down payments; earnest money deposits; purchase; and legal, architectural, or engineering costs. Funding for acquisition and rehabilitation is available from DC's Housing Production Trust Fund. The department can also provide legal and technical assistance during the negotiation or acquisition process. The Fiscal Policy Institute reports that TOPA acquisitions directly financed by the District preserved nearly 1,400 housing units from 2002 to 2012, and other estimates suggest that DC TOPA acquisitions have preserved over 3,500 units since 2002.⁴⁴

Stop Speculators from Buying Up the Neighborhood

Government can level the playing field for tenants and nonprofits to purchase homes by reducing the profits of outside speculators.

Anti-Flipping Tax

Most communities charge a tax every time a piece of real estate is sold, but usually this tax is very small. An anti-flipping tax would set the tax rate at a much higher level if the property was purchased very recently. The goal is to discourage shortterm speculation in neighborhoods and encourage longer term owners who will buy and hold properties.

Vacancy Tax

In some high-cost areas, outside investors purchase homes as investments with little or no intention to actually live in them. Using scarce housing as a speculative investment in this way contributes to housing shortages and higher housing costs for everyone.⁴⁵ Some cities impose additional property tax on properties that are not being occupied. The goal of these policies is to make this kind of behavior so much more expensive that investors choose to put their resources elsewhere, freeing up housing for people to actually live in.

British Columbia Speculation and Vacancy Tax

The Canadian province of British Columbia imposes a tax on vacant residential property and they charge a significantly higher rate if the owner of the vacant property is not a Canadian citizen or is someone who earns most of their income outside of Canada.⁴⁶ The tax is intended to discourage foreign investors from owning housing units and holding them empty while they speculate on future increases in value. The owners of every housing unit in designated parts of the province must file an annual declaration. Overall, 99 percent of owners are exempt from the tax because their units are occupied as someone's principal residence. For vacant units, Canadian citizens and permanent residents pay a tax of 0.5 percent of property value. Foreign investors and citizens who earn the majority of their annual income outside of Canada pay a tax of 2 percent of the property's value annually if the unit is kept vacant. Proceeds from the tax are invested into affordable housing programs throughout the province.

In addition to this provincial law, the City of Vancouver also imposes its own Empty Homes Tax, which imposes an additional 1.25 percent tax on empty homes in Vancouver.⁴⁷

Land Value Tax

Property taxes are one of the most significant sources of funding for local governments. In most American communities, a property tax assessor evaluates the "fair market value" for each property and then applies a tax rate to that value to determine how much property tax each property owner must pay. Assessors generally evaluate how much buildings are worth independently from the value of the land under the buildings, but then tax both at the same rate. Some communities, on the other hand, tax land and buildings at different rates. This small technical change can have big impacts on how real estate investors behave. Increasing the tax on land discourages speculation, especially in disinvested neighborhoods, by making it more expensive to buy property and hold it in hopes of future price increases.

Regulate the Market

Local governments can set clear rules for landlords and track the supply of rental units in order to manage the rental market for the benefit of tenants.

Landlord Licensing Policies

Landlord licensing policies require property owners to obtain a license to operate rental housing within a jurisdiction. While the requirements are generally easy for owners to comply with, having a licensing system provides a tool for enforcement against irresponsible landlords.

Rental Registration Policies

Many cities do not have clear data on their existing stock of rental housing. A rental registry can not only provide the data necessary to track existing privately owned affordable rental housing, but can also help to target acquisition efforts and inform tenants about the availability of acquisition programs.

Short-Term Rental Ordinances

In response to displacement pressures caused by the dramatic rise in AirBnB and similar types of short-term rental platforms over the last decade, many cities have passed ordinances to set rules on short-term rentals.⁴⁸ These rules can help reduce conversions of existing rental housing to short-term rentals and dampen speculative pressure on the sale of existing apartment buildings by ensuring that any buyer will be planning to use the building for apartment rentals.

Code Enforcement Programs

Code enforcement holds property owners accountable for quality maintenance of existing rental housing. At their best, these programs can offer tenants a strong tool to force their landlords to undertake necessary repairs. When tied to effective tenant organizing, code enforcement can be a tool that encourages irresponsible landlords to sell buildings to community organizations or tenants. However, public agency code enforcement efforts have to be implemented with care to avoid contributing to displacement or providing a pretext for displacement. See the sidebar on page 31 for an example of tenants in Minneapolis using code enforcement as a part of a multiyear campaign to remove their landlord and purchase their own building.

Finance Tools

Local governments cannot fully make up for the lack of federal leadership in housing. A key role can only be played by the federal government in financing affordable housing at scale. But, at a smaller scale, proactive local agencies can develop financing tools that clearly demonstrate what is possible and help to build local capacity and momentum. When new federal resources for acquisition become available, communities that piloted their own financing programs will find it easier to hit the ground running with new federal resources.

Local Housing Subsidy Funds

Local government acquisition funds offer loans to communitybased organizations to finance the purchase of existing housing units.

How It Works

The simplest way for local governments to make it possible for affordable housing developers to purchase existing less-expensive rental properties is to offer subsidies (favorable loans or grants) for that purpose. The government agency sets aside some portion of their existing affordable housing funds and issues clear rules for the kind of acquisition projects they want to fund. If the government can make quick decisions on a rolling basis it may be possible for nonprofit developers to make purchases happen quickly. Sometimes this subsidy is invested in a project as a grant, other times as a loan that does not require repayment or is only repaid if the project has enough cash flow available.

Key Considerations

- Can the request for proposals or other program documentation provide guidelines that are detailed enough that developers can understand which buildings would be most likely to be funded?
- If the goal of the program is to target certain neighborhoods or communities, the guidelines can prioritize nonprofit agencies with experience and trusting relationships in those communities.
- If the guidelines are open ended or unclear, property sellers may be less willing to wait while a nonprofit applies for public money because the owners will not have confidence that the loan request will be approved.
- It can be difficult to decide how much the maximum loan amount should be. If the maximum is set too low, it may not be enough to make projects work. If it is set too high, it could result in sellers simply receiving higher prices for their buildings.
- To have a meaningful impact in stabilizing communities, it is helpful to operate an acquisition funding program over many years to allow partners to understand how and when to use it.

San Mateo County's Affordable Rental Acquisition and Preservation Program

In 2016, the San Mateo County, California, board of supervisors authorized setting aside \$10 million of the county's recently approved affordable housing bond proceeds for a new Affordable Rental Acquisition and Preservation Program (ARAPP).⁴⁹ "The goal of ARAPP is to acquire and preserve the affordability of existing multifamily buildings within the county that are rented at below-market rates and not currently subject to rent restrictions." The county's Department of Housing released a Notice of Funding Availability (NOFA) for the program that is a special sub-fund within the county's Affordable Housing Fund. The NOFA offered loans of up to \$250,000 per unit to nonprofit and mission-driven for-profit organizations with experience providing affordable housing in the county. The loans were structured as "residual receipts" loans, meaning that developers paid interest to the county only up to 50 percent of net income in a given year. This structure allowed the county to share in the risk, making it easier for nonprofit developers to undertake these projects.

The county described the goals of the program:

- Provide fast-moving, flexible acquisition funding to nonprofit and mission-driven for-profit developers and owners to acquire and preserve existing, "naturally occurring," affordable, multifamily housing.
- Apply rent restrictions to preserve these properties as affordable housing for low- and moderate-income households for a minimum of 30 years.
- Improve the quality and condition of the affordable housing by addressing deferred maintenance and obsolete systems.
- Protect existing tenants from displacement and potential homelessness.
- Rent vacant units to new low-income households.

Eligible projects must include at least 20 rental units that are unsubsidized and either vacant or rented at rates that would be affordable to tenants earning 100 percent or less of the area median income. Project sponsors were required to commit to filling future vacancies with homeless and extremely lowincome tenants until 5 percent of the property was formerly homeless and 10 percent was extremely low-income tenants. The county set clear goals for targeting this small pool of resources, including the following:

- 1. Preserve rental housing known to be at imminent risk of rent increases likely to result in the eviction of existing tenants.
- 2. Preserve rental housing that currently serves clients of county services, children, elderly, or disabled tenants.
- 3. Target units as they become vacant to households referred by the county.

The initial investment in the ARAPP fund supported the preservation of 358 affordable housing units.

Affordable Housing Bonds

Government agencies can issue revenue bonds to finance acquisition of affordable housing units.

How It Works

When they need to finance lasting infrastructure like schools or bridges, local governments routinely issue general obligation bonds. The bonds are an enforceable promise that a city will use some of its future tax revenue to repay money that is borrowed today. Some communities use this approach to borrow money to pay for affordable housing. Instead of agreeing to simply spend some of this year's tax revenue on affordable housing, the community agrees to spend some money every year for 20 or 30 years to pay back money that it borrows today. The community then spends the money on preserving housing now and pays it off over time. In California and some other states, this requires approval of voters who are often reluctant to tax themselves, even for things that they support like affordable housing. But, when these measures are approved by voters, affordable housing bonds can raise enough money to fund more ambitious acquisition programs.

Key Considerations

- Some bonds are funded without any increase in taxes (the government agency simply pledges some of its existing tax revenue), while others are coupled with special-purpose tax increases (i.e., the increased tax revenue is pledged to repay the bonds).
- Eligible uses of bond proceeds need to be spelled out clearly before the bonds are approved. This can create challenges for acquisition programs because it is hard to anticipate the variety of potential acquisitions projects.

Santa Clara County Affordable Housing Bonds

In 2016, voters in Santa Clara County approved Measure A, a \$950 million general obligation bond to acquire or improve sites for affordable housing for vulnerable populations.⁵⁰ The goal of the program is to help construct 4,800 units of affordable housing and assist about 235 families to secure loans for the purchase of their first homes. As of December 31, 2020, the program had committed \$462 million for 40 housing projects totaling 2,368 units of affordable housing in both acquisition and new construction.

Local Acquisition Loan Funds

Loan acquisition funds can be specifically designed to offer quick financing to enable purchase of existing occupied housing.

How It Works

In higher cost markets, it is not uncommon for apartment buildings to sell quickly. Community agencies seeking to purchase buildings to preserve affordability have to act very quickly to compete with speculative investors. But, to make the purchase possible, they often rely on commitments of public affordable housing subsidy funds. Local government agencies often take months to make these commitments, creating a timing challenge that stands in the way of acquisition strategies. To address this, some cities have set up special-purpose loan funds that can make quick investment decisions.

Key Considerations

- How much risk can the fund take?
- If the fund is expected to be repaid with a future investment of local affordable housing funding, what happens if that funding is not available later?
- The agency administering the fund must have enough capacity to make quick and appropriate decisions that reflect the broader community goals.

San Francisco Housing Accelerator Fund

Recognizing the importance of moving quickly in acquisition of real estate for affordable housing, the City of San Francisco created a public-private partnership to operate an acquisition financing fund, the San Francisco Housing Accelerator Fund.⁵¹

The Housing Accelerator Fund is able to quickly approve financing for the acquisition of existing housing or sites that would be appropriate for development of new housing. They lend private capital, including some capital invested by tech firms. The fund can finance 100 percent of the cost of acquiring and renovating a property, eliminating the need for developers to assemble multiple layers of financing before they close on the purchase of a property. The loans are generally short term, requiring repayment within four years.

Between 2017 and 2020, the Accelerator Fund financed 21 separate acquisition projects sponsored by four different community-based nonprofit developers. In each case, the financed projects were ultimately refinanced with funding from the San Francisco Mayor's Office of Housing and Community Development, and this close coordination with the city is essential to the fund's strategy and mission. The communitybased nonprofit borrowers use the accelerator fund loans to purchase properties quickly and then complete the more lengthy process of securing public affordable housing subsidies from the city, state, and/or federal programs. They use the eventual public financing to repay the accelerator fund. In evaluating projects, the Accelerator Fund has to anticipate whether the project will be successful in securing a permanent subsidy, because without it, repayment of the fund's loan may not be possible.

Philanthropic Partnerships for Property Acquisition

Communities partner with philanthropic organizations to acquire property, establish acquisition funds, or provide loan guarantees.

How It Works

Complying with all of the many rules associated with government money can make acquisition of existing buildings with government funds challenging. Some programs address this challenge by bringing in private foundations or local employers (or both) to fund acquisition. Acquisition can be an appealing strategy for philanthropy because the results are more immediate.

Key Considerations

- It can be difficult to find donors who are able to invest at the scale that is necessary to make a difference in housing.
- Even with generous private donors, many programs must also take advantage of government money to run a higher impact program.

Community Investment Guarantee Pool

Community organizations that are attempting to purchase existing apartment buildings often find it difficult to obtain bank loans, even when the buildings that they are buying are generating enough income to repay those loans. In many cases, a loan guarantee from a foundation can make a big difference. The foundation promises the lender that if the community organization does not repay the loan, the foundation will. This provides a low-cost way for philanthropic organizations to support acquisition programs, but the process of structuring these arrangements can be challenging for community developers and foundations. The Community Investment Guarantee Pool (CIGP) is a collaboration between 10 philanthropic organizations to streamline the process of securing guarantees for community development projects.⁵² One of CIGP's first guarantees was made to Genesis LA to support acquisition of naturally occurring affordable housing.

Tax Abatement/Exemption Programs

A local government can offer reductions in property taxes to affordable housing developers or market-rate rental property owners who agree to set aside affordable units.

How It Works

Local property taxes represent one of the most significant annual costs for apartment building owners. Many states exempt affordable housing developments from property taxes. Some cities also offer tax abatement programs that provide exemptions or reductions in property taxes for properties that include affordable housing units. While this is not strictly speaking a finance source, this exemption can be critical to the ability of a nonprofit to acquire an existing apartment building. The exemption reduces the annual expenses of the building, allowing the community organization to borrow more and therefore pay more for the building. If they are bidding against private investors who will pay full taxes, this can provide a significant advantage to the community developer.

Key Consideration

• If a community provides tax exemption to too many properties, it can impact the city budget and reduce public services.

5.0 **Conclusion: The Future of Equitable Housing**

Below: Residents celebrate the acquisition of five apartment buildings for the Sky Without Limits Cooperative in Minneapolis, Minnesota. (*Inquilinxs Unidxs por Justicia*)



As the Covid-19 pandemic extends into a second year, it has become clear that some communities are impacted disproportionately. Renters collectively owe over \$50 billion in rent debt, while homeowners have seen their home values increase nearly 10 percent—an average of \$25,000 per home—in the past year alone.⁵³ Eviction moratoria have provided momentary protections against people losing their homes, but these measures are temporary. Resolving this crisis will require unprecedented leadership and bold action at the federal, state, and local levels. Community acquisition and ownership of rental buildings is a vital strategy that stabilizes neighborhoods against outside speculation and ensures an equitable recovery with stable, healthy, affordable housing for all.

6.0 Appendix: Additional Resources

Understanding the Role of Corporate Landlords and Institutional Investors in Destabilizing Communities

Alexander Ferrer, "Beyond Wall Street Landlords: How Private Equity in the Rental Market Makes Housing Unaffordable, Unstable, and Unhealthy," Strategic Actions for a Just Economy, 2021. https://www.saje.net/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/ Final_A-Just-Recovery-Series_Beyond_Wall_Street.pdf

Alexander Ferrer, Terra Graziani, Jacob Woocher, and Zachery Frederick, "The Vacancy Report: How Los Angeles Leaves Homes Empty and People Unhoused," Strategic Actions for a Just Economy, Alliance of Californians for Community Empowerment, and UCLA Community Economic Development Law Clinic, 2020. https://www.saje.net/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/ The_Vacancy_Report_Final.pdf

Konrad Putzier and Peter Grant, "Real-Estate Investors Eye Potential Bonanza in Distressed Sales," *Wall Street Journal*, April 7, 2020. https://www.wsj.com/articles/real-estate-investorseye-potential-bonanza-in-distressed-sales-11586260801

Elora Raymond, Richard Duckworth, Ben Miller, Michael Lucas, and Shiraj Pokharel, "Corporate Landlords, Institutional Investors, and Displacement: Eviction Rates in Single-Family Rentals," Federal Reserve Bank of Atlanta, December 2016. https://www.frbatlanta.org/community-development/ publications/discussion-papers/2016/04-corporate-landlordsinstitutional-investors-and-displacement-2016-12-21

Alana Semuels, "When Wall Street Is Your Landlord," *The Atlantic*, February 13, 2019. https://www.theatlantic.com/technology/ archive/2019/02/single-family-landlords-wall-street/582394/

Housing Market Data and Research

"Displacement Alert Project," Association of Neighborhood & Housing Development, accessed March 23, 2021. https://anhd. org/project/displacement-alert-project-dap

Brian An, Raphael W. Bostic, Andrew Jakabovics, Anthony W. Orlando, and Seva Rodnyansky, "Understanding the Small and Medium Multifamily Housing Stock," Enterprise Community Partners and USC Price Bedrosian Center, March 2017. https:// www.enterprisecommunity.org/download?fid=7818&nid=3521

Maya Brennan, Amy Deora, Anker Heegaard, Albert Lee, Jeffrey Lubell, and Charlie Wilkins, "Comparing the Costs of New Construction and Acquisition-Rehab In Affordable Multifamily Rental Housing: Applying a New Methodology for Estimating Lifecycle Costs," Center for Housing Policy, February 2013. https://nhc.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/10/CostComparison_ LifeCylceUnderwriting_workingpaper.pdf

National Low Income Housing Coalition and PAHRC, "A Picture of Preservation Need," 2020. https://preservationdatabase.org/ wp-content/uploads/2020/05/A-Picture-of-Preservation-Infographic-2020.pdf

Tim Thomas, Carson Hartnamm, Anna Driscoll, Karen Chapple, Anna Cash, Renee Roy Elias, and Miriam Zuk, "The Urban Displacement Replication Project: A Modified Gentrification and Displacement Methodology for the Atlanta, Chicago, Denver, and Memphis SPARCC regions," UC Berkeley Center for Community Innovation, SPARCC, and Urban Displacement Project, October 2020. https://www.urbandisplacement.org/ sites/default/files/images/udp_replication_project_ methodology_10.16.2020-converted.pdf

Miriam Zuk and Karen Chapple, "Housing Production, Filtering and Displacement: Untangling the Relationships." Institute for Governmental Studies, UC Berkeley, May 2016. http://www. urbandisplacement.org/sites/default/files/images/udp_ research_brief_052316.pdf

Local and National Acquisition Strategies

Gianpaolo Baiocchi, "Communities Over Commodities: People-Driven Alternatives to an Unjust Housing System," Homes For All Campaign of Right To The City Alliance, March 2018. https://homesforall.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/ Communities-Over-Commodities_Full-Report.pdf

Gianpaolo Baiocchi and H. Jacob Carlson, "The Case for a Social Housing Development Authority," Urban Democracy Lab, NYU Gallatin School, November 2020. https://urbandemos. nyu.edu/2020/11/23/the-shda-a-proposal/

Scott Bruton and Gretchen Nicholls, "Opportunity to Purchase Policy Options for the City of Minneapolis," Coalition for Nonprofit Housing and Economic Development, and LISC Twin Cities, January 2021. https://cnhed.org/wp-content/ uploads/2021/01/Opportunity-to-Purchase-Policy-Optionsfor-the-City-of-Minneapolis.pdf

Anna Cash, Elizabeth Mattiuzzi, Anna Driscoll, Karen Chapple, Renee Roy Elias, Miriam Zuk, "Building a National Narrative of Anti-Displacement Strategies," UC Berkeley Center for Community Innovation, SPARCC, and Urban Displacement Project, October 2020. https://www.urbandisplacement.org/ sites/default/files/images/building_a_national_narrative_ october_2020-converted.pdf

Laurie Goodman, Kathryn Reynolds, and Jung Hyun Choi, "Preserving Small Rental Buildings during the COVID-19 Crisis," Urban Institute, March 2021. https://www.urban.org/ sites/default/files/publication/103822/preserving-smallrental-buildings-during-the-covid-19-crisis_0.pdf

Leslie Gordon, Mashael Majid, Tony Roshan Samara, Fernando Echeverria, and Seema Rupani, "Rooted in Home: Community-Based Alternatives to the Bay Area Housing Crisis," Urban Habitat and East Bay Community Law Center, undated, accessed March 23, 2021. https://urbanhabitat.org/sites/default/files/ Rooted%20in%20Home.pdf

Peter Kye, Michael Mouton, and Megan Haberle, "Developing Opportunity: Innovative Models for Strategic Housing Acquisition," Poverty & Race Research Action Council, undated, accessed March 23, 2021. https://prrac.org/pdf/prrac_nht_ housing_acquisitions_report.pdf PolicyLink, "Tenant/Community Opportunity to Purchase," undated, accessed March 23, 2021. https://allincities.org/ toolkit/tenant-community-opportunity-to-purchase

Ananya Roy, Gary Blasi, Jonny Coleman, and Elana Eden, "Hotel California: Housing the Crisis," UCLA Luskin Institute on Inequality and Democracy, July 2020. https://escholarship.org/ uc/item/0k8932p6

San Francisco Planning Department, "Affordable Housing Funding, Production, and Preservation," 2020. https://default.sfplanning. org/plans-and-programs/housing/affordability-strategy/HAS_ Affordable%20Housing%20White%20Paper_Final.pdf

James Yelen, "Preserving Affordability, Preventing Displacement: Acquisition-Rehabilitation of Unsubsidized Affordable Housing in the Bay Area," Enterprise Community Partners, 2020. https:// www.enterprisecommunity.org/download?fid=13693&nid=10252

7.0 **Notes**

- Brian An, Raphael W. Bostic, Andrew Jakabovics, Anthony W. Orlando, and Seva Rodnyansky, "Understanding the Small and Medium Multifamily Housing Stock," Enterprise Community Partners and USC Price Bedrosian Center, March 2017. https:// www.enterprisecommunity.org/download?fid=7818&nid=3521
- 2 Hyojung Lee, "Who Owns Rental Properties, and Is it Changing?" Joint Center for Housing Studies of Harvard University, August 18, 2017. https://www.jchs.harvard.edu/blog/who-owns-rentalproperties-and-is-it-changing
- 3 Elora Raymond, Richard Duckworth, Ben Miller, Michael Lucas, and Shiraj Pokharel, "Corporate Landlords, Institutional Investors, and Displacement: Eviction Rates in Single-Family Rentals," Federal Reserve Bank of Atlanta, December 2016. https://www. frbatlanta.org/community-development/publications/discussionpapers/2016/04-corporate-landlords-institutional-investors-anddisplacement-2016-12-21
- 4 Alana Semuels, "When Wall Street Is Your Landlord," *The Atlantic*, February 13, 2019. https://www.theatlantic.com/technology/ archive/2019/02/single-family-landlords-wall-street/582394/
- 5 David Abromowitz and Andrew Jakabovics, "Real Estate Defaults Are Coming. Don't Waste Them," *Shelterforce*, October 20, 2020. https://shelterforce.org/2020/10/20/getting-ahead-of-the-nexthousing-downturn
- 6 Antoine Gara, "Blackstone's \$9.6 Billion Bet On The U.S. Housing Recovery Files To Go Public," *Forbes*, January 6, 2017. https://www. forbes.com/sites/antoinegara/2017/01/06/blackstones-big-bet-onthe-u-s-housing-recovery-files-to-go-public/?sh=2c15e87b3dba
- 7 National Low Income Housing Coalition and PAHRC, "A Picture of Preservation Need," 2020. https://preservationdatabase.org/wpcontent/uploads/2020/05/A-Picture-of-Preservation-Infographic-2020.pdf
- 8 Konrad Putzier and Peter Grant, "Real-Estate Investors Eye Potential Bonanza in Distressed Sales," *Wall Street Journal*, April 7, 2020. https://www.wsj.com/articles/real-estate-investors-eyepotential-bonanza-in-distressed-sales-11586260801
- 9 Mathew Desmond, *Evicted: Poverty and Profit in the American City*, Crown Books, 2016.
- 10 MacArthur Foundation, "How Housing Matters Research Briefs," April 24, 2014. https://www.macfound.org/press/article/howhousing-matters-research-briefs
- 11 For more information on Project Roomkey, see: https://www.cdss. ca.gov/inforesources/cdss-programs/housing-programs/projectroomkey

- 12 For more information on Project Homekey, see: https://www.hcd. ca.gov/grants-funding/active-funding/homekey.shtml
- 13 Ananya Roy, Gary Blasi, Jonny Coleman, and Elana Eden, "Hotel California: Housing the Crisis," UCLA Luskin Institute on Inequality and Democracy, July 2020. https://escholarship.org/uc/ item/0k8932p6
- 14 For more information on the City of San Francisco's Community Opportunity to Purchase Act (COPA), see: https://sfmohcd.org/ community-opportunity-purchase-act-copa. For more information on the Small Sites Program, see: https://sfmohcd.org/small-sitestenants.
- 15 For more information about the Housing Accelerator Fund, see: https://www.sfhaf.org/
- 16 Maya Brennan, Amy Deora, Anker Heegaard, Albert Lee, Jeffrey Lubell, and Charlie Wilkins, "Comparing the Costs of New Construction and Acquisition-Rehab In Affordable Multifamily Rental Housing: Applying a New Methodology for Estimating Lifecycle Costs," Center for Housing Policy, February 2013. https://nhc.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/10/CostComparison_ LifeCylceUnderwriting_workingpaper.pdf
- 17 "ANHD Applauds Signature Bank's Newly Released Commitment to Best Practices for Multifamily Real Estate Lending," Association of Neighborhood & Housing Development, accessed March 23, 2021. https://anhd.org/press-release/anhd-applauds-signaturebanks-newly-released-commitment-best-practices-multifamily
- 18 San Francisco Planning Department, "Affordable Housing Funding, Production, and Preservation," 2020. https://default.sfplanning. org/plans-and-programs/housing/affordability-strategy/HAS_ Affordable%20Housing%20White%20Paper_Final.pdf
- 19 Gianpaolo Baiocchi and H. Jacob Carlson, "The Case for a Social Housing Development Authority," Urban Democracy Lab, NYU Gallatin School, November 2020. https://urbandemos.nyu. edu/2020/11/23/the-shda-a-proposal/
- 20 Miriam Zuk and Karen Chapple, "Housing Production, Filtering and Displacement: Untangling the Relationships." Institute for Governmental Studies, UC Berkeley, May 2016. http://www. urbandisplacement.org/sites/default/files/images/udp_research_ brief_052316.pdf
- 21 Evan Mast, "The Effect of New Market-Rate Housing Construction on the Low-Income Housing Market," W.E. Upjohn Institute for Employment Research, July 1, 2019. https://research.upjohn.org/ up_workingpapers/307/

- 22 Paul Keil, "The Great American Foreclosure Story: The Struggle for Justice and a Place to Call Home," *ProPublica*, April 10, 2012. https://www.propublica.org/article/the-great-american-foreclosurestory-the-struggle-for-justice-and-a-place-t
- 23 Bill Henry, Jill Reese, and Angel Torres, "Wasted Wealth: How the Wall Street Crash Continues to Stall Economic Recovery and Deepen Racial Inequity in America," Alliance for a Just Society, May 2013. http://allianceforajustsociety.org/wp-content/ uploads/2013/05/Wasted.Wealth_NATIONAL.pdf
- 24 "United States Residential Foreclosure Crisis: Ten Years Later," CoreLogic, March 2017. https://www.corelogic.com/research/ foreclosure-report/national-foreclosure-report-10-year.pdf
- 25 Peter Dreier, Saqib Bhatti, Rob Call, Alex Schwartz, and Gregory Squires, "Underwater America: How the So-Called Housing 'Recovery' Is Bypassing Many American Communities," undated, accessed March 23, 2021. https://belonging.berkeley.edu/sites/ default/files/haasinsitute_underwateramerica_publish_0.pdf
- 26 Daniel Hartley, "The Impact of Foreclosures on the Housing Market," Federal Reserve Bank of Cleveland, October 27, 2010. https:// www.clevelandfed.org/en/newsroom-and-events/publications/ economic-commentary/economic-commentary-archives/2010economic-commentaries/ec-201015-the-impact-of-foreclosureson-the-housing-market.aspx
- 27 W. Scott Frame, "Estimating the Effect of Mortgage Foreclosure on Nearby Property Values: A Critical Review of the Literature," *Economic Review*, Vol. 95, No. 3, 2010. https://www.frbatlanta.org/ research/publications/economic-review/2010/vol95no3_effectof-foreclosures-on-property-values.aspx
- 28 "Soaring Spillover: Accelerating Foreclosures to Cost Neighbors \$502 Billion in 2009 Alone; 69.5 Million Homes Lose \$7,200 on Average," Center for Responsible Lending, May 2009. https:// www.responsiblelending.org/mortgage-lending/research-analysis/ soaring-spillover-3-09.pdf
- 29 Corianne Payton Scally, Camille H. Anoll, Jung Hyun Choi, Patrick Spauster, Leah Hendey, Diane K. Levy, Bing Bai, "Responding to a Crisis: The National Foreclosure Mitigation Counseling Program, 2008–2018: A Capstone Evaluation," The Urban Institute, February 2019, https://www.urban.org/research/publication/respondingcrisis-national-foreclosure-mitigation-counseling-program-2008-2018
- 30 Ryan Holeywell, "Critics Question Administration's Mortgage Modification Programs," *Governing*, October 7, 2011. https:// www.governing.com/archive/Critics-Question-Administrations-Mortgage-Modification-Programs.html
- 31 Jonathan Spader, Alvaro Cortes, Kimberly Burnett, Larry Buron, Michael DiDomenico, Anna Jefferson, Stephen Whitlow, Jennifer Lewis Buell, Abt Associates, Christian Redfearn, and Jenny Schuetz, "The Evaluation of the Neighborhood Stabilization Program," U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development, Office of Policy Development and Research, March 2015. https://www.huduser. gov/publications/pdf/neighborhood_stabilization.pdf

- 32 John, O'Callaghan and Paul Weech, "Policy Lessons from the Neighborhood Stabilization Innovations Initiative," *Community Development Investment Review*, Federal Reserve Bank of San Francisco, February 2014. https://www.frbsf.org/communitydevelopment/files/cdir_vol9issue2_policy_lessons.pdf
- 33 James Yelen, "Community Land Trusts as Neighborhood Stabilization: A Case Study of Oakland and Beyond," Professional Report, UC Berkeley, 2017. https://www.urbandisplacement.org/sites/default/ files/images/jjy_pr_final_draft_10-2018.pdf
- 34 For more information about the Displacement Alert Project, see: https://anhd.org/project/displacement-alert-project-dap
- 35 For more information about Restore Neighborhoods LA, Inc., see: http://www.rn-la.org/
- 36 For more information about Chicanos Por La Causa, see: https:// www.cplc.org/
- 37 For more information about PUSH Buffalo, see: https://www. pushbuffalo.org/
- 38 For more information about the Community Investment Corporation, see: https://www.cicchicago.com/
- 39 For more information about the King County Housing Authority strategic land acquisition, see: https://www.kcha.org/about/ development/progress
- 40 For more information about the Oakland Community Land Trust, see: https://oakclt.org/
- 41 For more information about the Land Bank Twin Cities, see: http:// www.landbanktwincities.org/
- 42 "Inclusive Processes to Advance Racial Equity in Housing Recovery: A Guide for Cities During the Covid-19 Pandemic," PolicyLink, 2020. https://www.policylink.org/resources-tools/housing-inclusiveprocesses-covid
- 43 For more information about Washington, DC's Tenant Opportunity to Purchase Assistance, see: https://dhcd.dc.gov/service/tenantopportunity-purchase-assistance
- 44 Jenny Reed, "DC's First Right Purchase Program Helps to Preserve Affordable Housing and Is One of DC's Key Anti-Displacement Tools," Fiscal Policy Institute, September 24, 2013. https://www.dcfpi. org/wp-content/uploads/2013/09/9-24-13-First_Right_Purchase_ Paper-Final.pdf. Also see estimates from the Yes to TOPA campaign: https://yes2topa.org/
- 45 Alexander Ferrer, Terra Graziani, Jacob Woocher, and Zachery Frederick, "The Vacancy Report: How Los Angeles Leaves Homes Empty and People Unhoused," Strategic Actions for a Just Economy, Alliance of Californians for Community Empowerment, and UCLA Community Economic Development Law Clinic, 2020. https:// www.saje.net/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/The_Vacancy_Report_ Final.pdf
- 46 For more information on British Columbia's speculation and vacancy taxes, see: https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/taxes/ speculation-vacancy-tax/how-tax-works
- 47 For more on Vancouver's Empty Homes Tax, see: https:// vancouver.ca/home-property-development/empty-homes-tax.aspx

- 48 For more on regulating short-term rentals, see "Regulating Short-Term Rentals: A Guidebook for Equitable Policy," Sustainable Economies Law Center, March 2016. https://www.theselc.org/ regulating_short_term_rentals_a_guidebook_for_equitable_policy
- 49 For more information on the Affordable Rental Acquisition and Preservation Program, see: https://housing.smcgov.org/san-mateocounty-affordable-housing-fund-ahf
- 50 For more information on Measure A, see: https://www.sccgov.org/ sites/osh/HousingandCommunityDevelopment/ AffordableHousingBond/Pages/2016Measure_a_progress.aspx
- 51 For more information on the Housing Accelerator Fund, see: https://www.sfhaf.org/
- 52 For more information about the Community Investment Guarantee Pool, see: https://www.guaranteepool.org/
- 53 Jim Parrott and Mark Zandi, "Averting an Eviction Crisis," Moody's Analytics, January 2021. https://www.moodysanalytics.com/-/ media/article/2021/averting-an-eviction-crisis.pdf; Jeff Tucker, "Home Value Appreciation Goes into Overdrive (February 2021 Market Report)" Zillow, March 19, 2021. https://www.zillow.com/ research/february-2021-market-report-29173/

8.0 Author Biographies

James A. Crowder Jr. is a Senior Associate at PolicyLink. He researches and develops policy and community engagement strategies to create more equitable economic outcomes for low-income families and communities of color.

Chris Schildt is a Senior Associate at PolicyLink. She leads national engagements to advance housing justice and antidisplacement strategies with community partners.

Rick Jacobus, Principal of Street Level Advisors, is a consultant who works with communities across the country to develop anti-displacement and affordable housing strategies.

PolicyLink

Lifting Up What Works®

Headquarters

1438 Webster Street Suite 303 Oakland, CA 94612 t (510) 663-2333 f (510) 663-9684

Communications

75 Broad Street Suite 701 New York, NY 10004 t (212) 629-9570

Washington, DC

1301 K Street NW Suite 300W-414 Washington, DC 20005

www.policylink.org

Facebook: /PolicyLink Twitter: @policylink Instagram: @policylink